
 
 

HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 16 January 2017 6.00 pm Committee Room 1, City Hall 

 
Membership: 
 

 
Councillors Gary Hewson (Chair), Pat Vaughan (Vice-Chair), 
Bob Bushell, Jackie Kirk, Jane Loffhagen and Keith Weaver 
 

External members: 
 

Brian Botham, Gaynor Brown, Caroline Coyle-Fox and Eric 
Jenkinson 
 

Officers attending: 
 

Democratic Services, Bob Ledger, Karen Talbot and Chris Morton 
 

A G E N D A 

SECTION A Page(s)  

1.  Confirmation of Minutes -14 November 2016  
 

3 - 6 

2.  Declarations of Interest  
 
Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, 
when declaring interests members must disclose the existence and 
nature of the interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
(DPI) or personal and/or pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  LTP Matters  
 

 

4.  Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy and Rechargeable Repairs 
Policy  
 

7 - 66 

5.  Work Programme 2016-2017  
 

67 - 70 

 

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally blank.



Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee 14 November 2016 

 
Present: Councillors Councillor Gary Hewson (in the Chair),  

Bob Bushell, Jackie Kirk and Pat Vaughan 
 

Apologies for Absence: Councillor Jane Loffhagen, Councillor Keith Weaver and 
Gaynor Brown 
 

Also in Attendance: Eric Jenkinson and Debbie Rousseau 
 

 
23.  Confirmation of Minutes - 3 October 2016  

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 3 October 2016 be 
confirmed. 
 

24.  Declarations of Interest  
 

No declarations of interest were received. 
 

25.  Lincoln Tenants' Panel (LTP) Update Report  
 

Eric Jenkinson, Chair of LTP 
 

a. presented the half-yearly report to update members on the activities and 
achievements of Lincoln Tenants’ Panel from April to October 2016 
 

b. advised that the Panel had agreed that they should focus on three key 
areas over the coming year: 
 

 Helping to improve the councils response towards anti-social 
behaviour  

 Reviewing void turnaround times 

 Missed appointments for repairs  
 

c. advised on the activities that the panel had undertaken: 
 

 writing the annual report to tenants 2015/16 

 Attending East Midlands Tenant Participation Forum Seminars and 
the Association of Retained Council Housing annual conference 

 Taking part in a number of training sessions aimed at building the 
skills and capabilities of the panel  

 Commenting on all HRA Executive reports  

 Monitoring performance and the HRA service delivery plan 

 Helping to promote the panel by attending the roadshow, fun day 
and other community events 
 

d. further added: 
 

 The working groups were on track and were currently working on 
Anti-Social Behaviour and promoting tenants involvement  

 A pop up grotto would be held on the Ermine West and St Giles on 
12 and 15 December 2016 

3

Item No. 1



 4 LTP members had visited Newark and Sherwood District Council 
to share procedures on voids 

 
Members referred to the pop up grotto and asked if this was being held in Ermine 
West and St Giles because more tenant representatives were needed in these 
areas. 
 
Chris Morton, Resident Involvement Manager responded that the Grotto was a 
pilot scheme and if successful would be rolled out to other areas in future years. 
More tenant representatives were needed in the Ermine West area. 
 
Members further invited LTP representatives to attend the St Giles 
Neighbourhood Board meeting and confirmed that they would email the details to 
the Chair of LTP.  
  
RESOLVED that the 
 

1. contents of the report be noted  
2. the commitment that Lincoln Tenants Panel has shown over the last six 

months be noted. 
 

26.  Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 2016/17  
 

Bob Ledger, Director of Housing and Regeneration  
 

a. presented the end of quarter report on Performance Indicators for the 
second quarter of the year 2016/17 (July 2016-September 2017) 
 

b. advised that in total there were 23 measures and of these 16 were on or 
exceeding targets for the year and 7 had not met the targets set 
 

c. referred to paragraph 4 of the report and highlighted the areas where there 
had been overall improvement including: 
 

 Average Re-Let Period – All Dwellings (Including Major Works) 

 Percentage of Rent Lost Due to Vacant Dwellings 

 Emergency Repairs 

 All Reactive Repairs 

 Average Time Taken to Complete Repairs 
 

d. further highlighted areas that had not achieved their target and explained 
the reasons of this:  
 

 Arrears as a percentage of Rent Debit 

 Percentage of Offers Accepted First Time 

 Percentage of ASB Cases Closed that were Resolved 
 
Members asked the following questions and commented on the report and 
received relevant responses. 
 
Question: Referred to Performance Indicator Arrears as a Percentage of Rent 
Debit and asked for more information on the reasons why arrears have 
increased. 
Response: Arrears show trends throughout the year, quarter 2 included the 
summer months where priorities changed during the summer holidays but quarter 

4



3 would generally show reduced arrears. There had been significant improvement 
in rent arrears over the last 2 years and the Team were still confident that the 
target could be met by the end of the year. 
Question: What was the percentage of arrears in monetary terms? 
Response: The arrears were £830K 
Question:  What was the Council’s approach to addressing arrears? 
Response: The Council had to be fair and take into account tenants 
circumstances, however, if the Council had given a tenant chances that were not 
taken then the Council would have to be firm in taking action. 
Question: Referred to the performance indicator Percentage of Offers Accepted 
First Time and asked if there was more that could be done to reduce refusals on 
properties due to the dislike of an area. 
Response: If there was a lot of refusals of properties in a particular area then 
officers would investigate the reasons behind this. Inevitably some areas were 
more popular than others. 
Comment: The quality of void properties had improved over the last 2 years.  
 
Bob Ledger, further advised on some proposed tweaks to the Allocations Policy 
in relation to level 1 applicants refusing properties that were offered to them.  
 
RESOLVED that 
 

1) the current performance outcomes during the financial year 2016/17 be 
noted. 
 

2) a commitment to continue to report on a quarterly basis and to determine a 
programme to have more interim reviews of services specific performance 
be agreed. 

 
27.  Tenant Involvement and Empowerment Strategy 2014-17, Update Report  

 
Chris Morton, Resident Involvement Manager 
 

a. presented a report to provide an update on the delivery of the Tenant 
Involvement and Empowerment Strategy 2014-2017 
 

b. gave the background to the strategy as detailed at paragraph 2 of the 
report and advised that it came into place on 1 April 2014 
 

c. advised that there were 31 actions within the action plan and the current 
progress could be broken down into: 
 

 21 actions in progress 

 10 actions completed 
 

d. advised that between May and November the Resident Involvement Team 
and Tenant Representatives have focussed on the following areas: 
 

 Delivering the Housing Roadshow 

 Developing the Mystery Shopper Programme 

 Commencing two further tenant led reviews of Council Services 

 Contributing to the Anti- Social Behaviour Review and setting up an 
LTP ASB group 

 Continuing to engage with leaseholders 

5



 Assisting in promoting the community investment scheme and 
advising residents groups on how to apply 

 Increasing engagement through Facebook 

 Facilitating the autumn round of sheltered housing forums. 
 

The committee discussed the role of Leaseholders and asked if the number of 
leaseholders had increased in the City. 
 
Chris Morton responded that there were currently 280 Leaseholders within the 
City and it was unknown whether this had risen. Leaseholders were consulted 
with as they still had an involvement with the Council. There was currently one 
Leaseholder representative on the Lincoln Tenants Panel. 
 
RESOLVED that the progress made on delivering the tenant involvement and 
empowerment strategy be noted. 
 

28.  'Home! Magazine Editions 2017-Article Planning (Verbal Report) 
 

Chris Morton, Resident Involvement Manager circulated the Home! Article plan to 
the committee and asked for suggestions for articles for future editions.  
 
The committee discussed the article plan and suggested an article on the 
refurbishment of St Giles Church. 
 
Chris Morton, responded that this would be a good positive article for the 
magazine and he would look into it. 
 
RESOLVED that the verbal update be noted. 
 

29.  Work Programme 2016/17  
 

The Democratic Services Officer 
 

a. presented the work programme for the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 
for 2016/17 as detailed at appendix A of the report. 
 

b. advised that this was an opportunity for the committee to suggest other 
items be included within the work programme 

 
The Chair suggested that a Post Implementation Review of the Modernisation of 
St Botolphs Court be added to the 13 March 2017 meeting.  
 
RESOLVED that the work programme be agreed subject to the above 
amendment. 
 

6



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB COMMITTEE  16 JANUARY 2017  
  

 

 
SUBJECT:  
 

HOUSING REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE POLICY AND 
RECHARGEABLE REPAIRS POLICY 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

HOUSING AND REGENERATION 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 

KAREN TALBOT – ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF HOUSING 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 
 

To request members support for the introduction of both a Repairs and 
Maintenance Policy and a Rechargeable Repairs Policy which encompass the 
established terms and conditions of the tenancy agreement. The documents 
primary use to be as guidance for staff to ensure a consistent approach to 
prioritising repairs and fair and consistent recharges. 
 

2. Executive Summary  
 

2.1 In January 2015 the Council adopted a new tenancy agreement, following 
consultation with tenants, which included rights and responsibilities for repairs. 
 

2.2 However these contractual rights and responsibilities have not yet been captured 
in a separate Repairs and Maintenance document for staff to work to. 
 

2.3 Therefore this report seeks to adopt both a Repairs and Maintenance Policy and a 
Rechargeable Repairs Policy to reflect those terms and conditions, providing 
clarity to staff to ensure fair and consistent implementation. 
 

3. Background 
 

3.1 
 

In July 2014 Executive Committee approved a recommendation to take a revised 
tenancy agreement out to consultation with tenants. 97% of respondents in that 
consultation were in favour of the revised terms and conditions of the tenancy 
agreement and so the new tenancy agreement took effect from January 5th 2015. 
 

3.2 In December 2014 all tenants were written to advising them of such and were 
issued with a new tenancy agreement. All new tenants from January 5th 2015 were 
issued with the new tenancy agreement as standard. 
 

3.3 
 

The current tenancy agreement includes terms and conditions relating to rights 
and responsibilities for repairs: 
 
Section 5.4  Repairs that are our responsibility 
Section 6.9  Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility 
Section 6.10 Alterations and improvements 
 
A copy of the tenancy agreement is included as Appendix One for reference. 
 

7

Item No. 4



3.4 
 

However these terms and conditions have not yet been captured into a Repairs 
and Maintenance document for staff to work from. This report seeks to address 
that situation and also provide clarity to staff about what works will be recharged to 
tenants. 
 

4. Main Body of Report 
 

4.1 It is best practice to have a Repairs and Maintenance Policy that captures the 
contractual rights and responsibilities for repairs for a number of reasons, some of 
which are listed below; 
 

 Housing Officers are usually more familiar with the terms and conditions of 
tenancy than repair staff who administer repair requests 

 An internal policy provides clarity for all staff, not just repairs staff, about 
what works will be done and within which timescales (i.e. what is an 
emergency, what works we complete during the Right to Buy process) 
ensuring that all staff are able to give consistent information to tenants 

 Clarity around emergency repairs ensures that only these are attended as 
out of hours calls thereby managing the costs of this aspect of service 
delivery 

 Assists with the continuation of service improvement through performance 
management 

 Ensure that all public facing information that follows reflect messages within 
the policy to ensure consistency. 

 
4.2 It is also good practice to supplement a Repairs and Maintenance Policy with a 

Rechargeable Repairs Policy identifying which repairs a tenant can be recharged 
for within the terms and conditions of tenancy 
 

4.3 A Rechargeable Repairs Policy also ensures; 
 

 Fair and consistent application of recharges whilst allowing for exemptions 
for vulnerable tenants 

 Clarity around repairs responsibilities during the mutual exchange process 

 Fair and consistent application of recharges to former tenants of void 
properties 

 Clarity around the process as to how and when tenants will be advised that 
a repair can be completed but may be recharged to them with an 
explanation as to why 

 
4.4 The attached Repairs and Maintenance Policy (Appendix Two) and Rechargeable 

Repairs Policy (Appendix Three) reflect the terms and conditions of the tenancy 
agreement adopted from January 2015 and contain no further commitments or 
change in service level. 
 

4.5 The contents of both policy documents have been considered and approved by 
Lincoln Tenants Panel at their meeting on August 17th 2016. 
 

5. Strategic Priorities  
  
5.1 Protecting the poorest people in Lincoln – the Rechargeable Repairs Policy allows 

8



for consideration to waive charges for vulnerable tenants that would normally be 
applied. Inclusion in a policy ensures a consistent method for all claims that fall 
within this criteria to be considered objectively and fairly.  
 

6. Organisational Impacts  
 

6.1 Finance (including whole life costs where applicable) -  The implementation of a 
Repairs and Maintenance Policy and a Rechargeable Repairs Policy ensures that 
all staff across Housing Services and Customer Services are aware of the 
Council’s responsibilities. Therefore Control Centre staff will be better informed to 
ensure they only send operatives to out of hours calls for emergencies and repairs 
that are not the Council’s responsibility will be carried out at cost to tenants 
ensuring a more cost effective approach to service delivery. 
 

6.2 Legal Implications including Procurement Rules - none 
 

6.3 Equality, Diversity & Human Rights (including the outcome of the EA attached, if 
required) – the policies ensure transparent and consistent service delivery to all 
tenants. Inclusion of measures to consider waiving charges for rechargeable 
repairs in cases where we have evidence of vulnerability i.e. learning difficulty so 
did not understand they could be charged, or extreme financial hardship if given a 
debt will ensure that we protect the most vulnerable. 
 

7. Risk Implications 
 

7.1 (i)        Options Explored  
Do nothing – without policies in place to guide staff there is too much room for 
inconsistency in application in the rights and responsibilities for repairs 
contractually obliged within the terms and conditions of the tenancy agreement. 
 
Introduce policy – to introduce policies enables the service to better train all staff in 
repair obligations and timescales ensuring we give consistent information to 
tenants, that all repairs are administered within timescales and that both staff and 
tenants are clear about what will be recharged and the process for doing so. 
 

7.2 (ii)        Key risks associated with the preferred approach – none 
 

8. Recommendation  
 

8.1 
 

To support the introduction of the Repairs and Maintenance Policy and 
Rechargeable Repairs Policy which encompass the terms and conditions of 
tenancy, previously approved by Exec in July 2014, to be used as internal 
guidance and training aids for staff 

 
Is this a key decision? 
 

No 
 

Do the exempt information 
categories apply? 
 

No 
 

Does Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules (call-in and 
urgency) apply? 

No 
 

9



 
How many appendices does 
the report contain? 
 

3 

List of Background Papers: 
 

None 
 
 

Lead Officer: Karen Talbot, Assistant Director of Housing 
Telephone (01522) 873734 

 
 
 
 

10



DIRECTORATE OF HOUSING AND REGENERATION 
 

 

 

 

 

 

INTRODUCTORY AND SECURE 

TENANCY AGREEMENT  

 
 
 
 
 

     

11



 2 

CONTENTS 

 

  
Section 1 Explanation of words* used in this agreement ....................................................................... 4 
 
Section 2 Tenancy details (separate section) 
 
Section 3  General terms ............................................................................................................................. 5 
3.1 Type of tenancy .......................................................................................................................... 5 
3.2 Your responsibilities.................................................................................................................. 5 
3.3 Your household .......................................................................................................................... 5 
3.4 Data protection ........................................................................................................................... 5 
3.5 Rent ............................................................................................................................................. 6 
3.6 Former rent arrears and other former debts ........................................................................... 6 
3.7 Services ...................................................................................................................................... 6 
3.8 Sheltered housing ...................................................................................................................... 7 
3.9 Support charge ........................................................................................................................... 7 
3.10 Service of notices ...................................................................................................................... 8 
3.11 Altering this agreement ............................................................................................................. 8 
3.12 Rights .......................................................................................................................................... 8 
3.13 Legislation .................................................................................................................................. 8 
3.14 Third parties ............................................................................................................................... 8 
 
Section 4: Your rights .................................................................................................................................. 9 
4.1 Tenure – your right to occupy .................................................................................................. 9 
4.2 Right to repair ............................................................................................................................. 9 
4.3  Right to take in lodgers ............................................................................................................ 9 
4.4 Right to exchange your tenancy .............................................................................................. 9 
4.5 Right to transfer by exchange ................................................................................................ 10 
4.6 Right of succession ................................................................................................................. 10 
4.7 Right to improve ....................................................................................................................... 11 
4.8 Right to compensation for improvements ............................................................................ 11 
4.9 Right to buy .............................................................................................................................. 11 
4.10 Right to consultation ............................................................................................................... 11 
4.11 Right to complain ..................................................................................................................... 11 
4.12 Right to alternative accommodation ...................................................................................... 12 
4.13 Right to be treated equally ...................................................................................................... 12 
 
Section 5 Our obligations to you ............................................................................................................. 13 
5.1  Possession .............................................................................................................................. 13 
5.2 Anti-social behaviour............................................................................................................... 13 
5.3 Liability ...................................................................................................................................... 13 
5.4 Repairs that are our responsibility......................................................................................... 13 
5.5 Decoration ................................................................................................................................ 14 
5.6 Transfers ................................................................................................................................... 14 
5.7 Boundaries ............................................................................................................................... 14 
 
Section 6 Your obligations to us ............................................................................................................. 15 
6.1 Possession ............................................................................................................................... 15 
6.2 Rent and charges ..................................................................................................................... 15 
6.3 Support ..................................................................................................................................... 15 
6.4 Anti-social behaviour............................................................................................................... 15 
6.5 Harassment ............................................................................................................................... 16 
6.6 Our employees, agents, representatives and contractors .................................................. 16 
6.7 Domestic violence.................................................................................................................... 17 
6.8 Looking after your home ......................................................................................................... 17 
6.9 Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility .......................................................... 17 
6.10 Alterations and improvements ............................................................................................... 18 

12



 3 

6.11 Insurance .................................................................................................................................. 19 
6.12 Health and safety ..................................................................................................................... 19 
6.13 Disposal of rubbish.................................................................................................................. 20 
6.14 Gardens and balconies ........................................................................................................... 20 
6.15 Pets and other animals ............................................................................................................ 21 
6.16 Household pests ...................................................................................................................... 22 
6.17 Communal areas ...................................................................................................................... 22 
6.18 Parking and vehicle repairs .................................................................................................... 22 
6.19 Using your home ...................................................................................................................... 24 
6.20 Sub-letting your property ........................................................................................................ 24 
6.21 Assignment ............................................................................................................................... 25 
6.22 Co-operating with us and access ........................................................................................... 25 
6.23 Overcrowding ........................................................................................................................... 25 
6.24 Owning or renting other residential property ....................................................................... 26 
6.25 Rules ......................................................................................................................................... 26 
6.26 Costs ......................................................................................................................................... 26 
 
Section 7: Ending the tenancy .................................................................................................................. 27 
7.1 If you wish to end your tenancy ............................................................................................. 27 
7.2 If we wish to end your tenancy ............................................................................................... 27 
7.3 Moving out ................................................................................................................................ 27 
 
Declaration   .................................................................................................................................................. 28 
 
Data matching ................................................................................................................................................ 28 
 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES ............................................................................................................................ 29 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

13



 4 

Section 1  
 
Explanation of words* used in this agreement 
 

“Council” 
“Landlord” 
“We” 
“Us” 
“Our” 

City of Lincoln Council  
City Hall 
Beaumont Fee 
LINCOLN 
Lincolnshire 
LN1 1DB 

“Tenant” 
“You” 
“Your” 

The person(s) named as tenant(s) in section 2 of this agreement. 

“Partner”, “Spouse” Someone who is, or lives with you as, your husband or wife or a civil partner. 

“Agreement” This tenancy agreement.  

“Premises” 
“Property” 
“Dwelling” 
“Home” 

The dwelling to which this tenancy agreement relates, including any garden. If your 
home is a top floor flat or maisonette, any loft space or area is not included in this 
tenancy. 

“Household” “You” and any person living in your home including lodgers. 

“Communal areas” 

Shared entrances, halls, stairways, passages, balconies, yards, lifts, fire escapes, 
roads and footpaths leading to and from your home, and any grassed and cultivated 
areas, drying areas, play areas, forecourts and other shared areas forming part of 
the building or estate of which your home forms a part and which are owned and 
maintained by us. 

“Contractor” 
Someone who is employed by us to do a certain job such as a repair. This may be 
someone from our own workforce or an independent contractor. 

“Neighbourhood” The local area where you live. 

“Housing office” Your housing office, normally City Hall, Beaumont Fee, Lincoln, LN1 1DD. 

“Pet” Any living creature that is kept by you in your home.  

“Pest” 
Any animal, plant or insect detrimental to humans, including (but not confined to) 
ants, cockroaches, bed bugs, wasps, mice, rats, beetles, fleas and pigeons.   

“Net rent” 
The amount you must pay to us every week to us for the use and occupation of your 
home. 

“Services” 
Equipment, amenities and labour (other than in respect of repairs to your home) 
that we provide to your home, to communal areas and to other properties owned by 
us and which benefits or is capable of benefiting you directly or indirectly. 

“Service charge” 
The amount you must pay to us every week in addition to your net rent for the 
services that we provide, usually for communal facilities and services such as 
cleaning, communal lighting and communal lounges. 

“Sheltered housing” 
Developments of specially designated housing where the tenants are provided with 
a support service (usually by a scheme manager) and where they have to be over 
a certain age (usually state retirement age) to be able to live there. 

“Support charge” 
The amount you may have to pay every week if you are receiving the services of a 
supported housing officer or a scheme manager in a sheltered housing 
development or where we provide you with support in some other way. 

“Other charges” 
Any additional amount you have to pay to us every week such as water, council tax 
or heating. All other charges are listed in this tenancy agreement. 

“Total rent” The sum total of all the charges you have to pay to us every week. 

 

* These words may be spelt with either a capital or a lower case letter 

  

14



 5 

Section 2 Tenancy details: please see separate section 

 
 

Section 3  General terms 

 

3.1 Type of tenancy 

 
3.1.1 If this is an introductory tenancy it means that for the first twelve months there are certain rights 

that you will not have as an introductory tenant and your security of tenure will be less than that 
enjoyed by a full secure tenant. These reduced rights and lesser security of tenure are shown 
clearly in this agreement. On the first anniversary of the tenancy start date and provided that you 
are and have been occupying your home as your only or main home it will become a full secure 
tenancy without a new agreement being entered into unless; 

 

 we have started legal proceedings to obtain possession of your home and those proceedings 
have not come to an end, in which case this tenancy will continue as an introductory tenancy 
until either we take possession of the dwelling or the proceedings are finally determined in some 
other way; or 

 

 we have extended this introductory tenancy for a further period of up to six months, in which 
case this tenancy will continue as an introductory tenancy for the period of the extension at 
which time it will become a secure tenancy unless we have started legal proceedings as above. 

 
3.1.2 If we decide to extend your introductory tenancy we will give you a notice explaining why we have 

done this and you will have the right to request a review of our decision. We must give this notice 
at least eight weeks before the end of the initial twelve month period. Details of the procedure to 
be followed if you wish to request a review will be set out in the notice. 

 
3.1.3 If your tenancy is or becomes a secure tenancy you will receive the additional rights set out 

in this agreement. The other terms and conditions of this agreement will remain the same. 
As long as you occupy your home as your only or main home and you do not break any of 
the terms set out in this agreement you may live there for as long as you wish. However, we 
can require you to move out of your home under grounds 9 - 16 of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended). Under these grounds we would offer you suitable alternative accommodation as 
a secure tenant. 

 
 

3.2 Your responsibilities 

  
 As a tenant you are responsible at all times for the conduct of any person living in or visiting your 

home, including children. 
 

 
3.3 Your household 

 
When signing this agreement you must give us details of everyone who will be living in your home, 
including members of your own family. You must not allow more people to live in your home than 
the maximum stated in section 2.4 of this agreement. You must notify us immediately if there are 
any changes. 

 
 

3.4 Data protection 

 
3.4.1 By signing this agreement, you consent to us holding and processing any personal information 

(including sensitive personal data) about you that you provide or which has been or will be provided 
by third parties for the purposes of performing our functions as your landlord. This may include 
disclosure to other City of Lincoln Council departments or certain third parties (such as Lincolnshire 
County Council) that are able to show that they are entitled to receive the information. 

 

15



 6 

3.4.2 We will comply with the Data Protection Act 1998 when dealing with personal data. This means 
that your personal data will be processed in accordance with the law and no personal data will be 
sold to third parties. It also means that you have the right to see data which we hold about you 
subject to payment of a small fee. We are only allowed to refuse access in limited circumstances, 
for example where information may identify a third party who has not consented to the disclosure. 
You have the right to challenge information and may request the erasure or correction of records 
which you believe to be inaccurate. For further advice and information regarding access to personal 
information please contact us 

 
3.4.3 If you leave your home owing rent or any other money, we may pass on information about you to 

any debt recovery or tracing agency that we instruct to recover that debt. If you leave your home 
owing money in respect of electricity, gas, water, telephone or other similar charges, you agree 
that we may pass on contact details to the company to whom the money is owed or any agent 
acting on their behalf. 

 
 

3.5 Rent 
 
3.5.1 We will collect your total weekly rent under this agreement over 50 weeks in each financial year 

(starting on the first Monday in April each year) unless there are 53 Mondays in the year, in which 
case we will collect your total weekly rent over 51 weeks.  We will tell you at the start of the year 
which weeks are ‘non-payment’ weeks. If you owe us any rent you must still pay us in the ‘non-
payment’ weeks. For the avoidance of doubt this section applies also to “service”, “support”, or 
“other charges”. 

 

3.5.2 On the first Monday in the April following the agreement start date and on each first Monday in 

April after that date we may increase or decrease the net rent by giving you not less than four 
weeks’ notice in writing. The notice shall specify the net rent proposed, together with all other 
charges. With the exception of the first time we increase your rent after your tenancy begins the 
rent will not be increased within 52 weeks of the last increase. 

 
3.5.3 Although the total weekly rent is normally payable weekly in advance in accordance with section 

2.6, you may if we first agree in writing pay it in advance on a different frequency, for example 
every fortnight or calendar month. 

 
3.5.4 You are responsible for making an application for housing benefit or any equivalent allowance if 

you wish to claim. You are responsible under this agreement for paying the total weekly rent 
whether or not you are entitled to or actually receive any housing benefit. 

 
 

3.6 Former rent arrears and other former debts 
 
 If you have rent arrears or other debts from a previous tenancy you had with us you agree to pay 

off those arrears by the weekly instalments shown in a separate agreement and payment account. 
If you do not make the payments we may start court proceedings to end this tenancy. The amount 
of money you owe us is shown at section 2.7. 

 
 

3.7 Services 
 
3.7.1 In return for providing the services set out in section 2.5 of this agreement and subject to our rights 

of variation contained in this section you must pay a service charge if a figure is stated in that 
section.  Unless stated in section 2.5 as payable to us as part of your total weekly rent, you are 
responsible for all other outgoings on your property such as gas, electricity, water and council tax, 
telephone, broadband/ internet access and television. 

 
3.7.2 With effect from the first Monday in April after the beginning of your tenancy we may increase or 

decrease your service charge (if it applies) at any time if we give you at least four weeks’ notice in 
writing, but we will not do this more than once a year unless there is a change in the services we 
provide. 

16



 7 

 
3.7.3 We may, upon giving you at least four weeks’ notice in writing, withdraw existing services or 

introduce additional chargeable ones from the schedule attached to this agreement. We will not 
introduce additional services that are not included in the attached schedule without consulting you 
first. 

 
3.7.4 We may in the future set the service charge on the basis of the proportion that we assess as being 

reasonably attributable to your home of the estimated total cost over a period of twelve months 
(‘the accounting period’) of providing the services. If we do, we will give you at least one month’s 
notice that we will do this from 1st April in any year and the following additional provisions will then 
apply: 

 

1. the service charge accounting period will normally be 1 April to 31 March or such other period 
as we may adopt from time to time at our discretion; 

 

2. at the end of each accounting period we will calculate how much we have actually spent on providing 
the services in that period. If we have overcharged or undercharged for them we will allow for 
any overpayment or underpayment in setting the new service charge for the following year; 

 

3. we will give you a certificate showing what is included in your service charge. When you receive 
your certificate you have the right, within six calendar months of receiving the certificate, to 
examine the service charge accounts, receipts and other documents relating to them and to 
take copies of extracts from them. We will make a small charge to cover the cost of any 
copying. 

 
3.7.5 We can only make reasonable service charges and the services or work we do must be of a 

reasonable standard. 
 
 

3.8 Sheltered housing  

 
3.8.1 If the property is in a sheltered housing development you agree that this tenancy is granted on the 

understanding that: 
 

1. support staff may hold a master key which will only be used to enter your home in an emergency; 
 

2. you are willing to submit relevant personal details for the emergency central control service; 
 

3. in order to avoid access problems in an emergency you will not fix additional locks or chains on 
the main door without our prior written permission.  We shall not unreasonably withhold our 
permission.   

 
3.8.2 You also agree to accept the level of support services necessary for you to stay in your home and 

be able to live reasonably independently. You therefore agree to sign, and act in accordance with, 
a support plan, which should be agreed with the scheme manager within two weeks of the 
beginning of this tenancy starting. The support plan gives details of the level and type of support 
you need. It runs for the entire course of the tenancy and is reviewed at least once a year. The 
support plan will help you to: 

 

 achieve economic wellbeing; 
 

 be healthy; 
 

 stay safe; 
 

 make a positive contribution. 
 

 

3.9 Support charge 

 
3.9.1  There is a separate charge for receiving the support service (referred to as “support charge” in 

section 2.5 above). 

17



 8 

3.9.2 If the property is in a sheltered scheme we may vary the support charge at any time by giving you 
at least four weeks’ notice in writing of the new charge. This will usually be done at the same time 
as we increase your net rent - in April of each year. 

 
3.9.3 If your need for a care or support service arises during the course of your tenancy you will be 

responsible for entering into a separate agreement with another agency to provide that service. 
You must pay the other agency directly for any service that you receive from it. 

 

3.10 Service of notices 
 
3.10.1 Any notice that you need to give to us will be validly served if it is received by us at the address 

stated in section 2.1 above. We may if we wish nominate a different address for this purpose. 
 
3.10.2 Any legal notice, or any other communication arising from this agreement, will be validly served on 

you if posted to or delivered to your home or left with a member of your household. 
 
 

3.11 Altering this agreement 
 

The terms of this agreement (other than those relating to payment of rent, service and other 
charges) may be varied in accordance with the procedure set out in sections 102 and 103 of the 
Housing Act 1985. We may change any of the terms of this agreement either by agreement 
between us or by giving you 28 days’ written notice of the variation. Before serving such a notice 
we will inform you in writing of the details of the proposed change and will consider any comments 
you may have. 

 
 

3.12 Rights 

 
3.12.1 We grant you as part of this agreement the right in common with other persons having the same 

right to pass over the communal stairs, landings and other means of access for the purposes of 
going to and from your home. 

 
3.12.2 We reserve the right to fix to the exterior of your home, or over or under it, wires, pipework and 

other structures or fittings. 
 
 

3.13 Legislation 

 
All references in this agreement to Acts of Parliament include references to any changes to or 
replacements of them. 

 
 

3.14 Third parties 

 
The Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 does not apply to this agreement. This agreement 
is not intended to and does not give rights to any third parties to enforce any provision contained 
in it. 
 
 
 

  

18



 9 

Section 4: Your rights 

You have the following rights:- 
 

4.1 Tenure – your right to occupy 
 
4.1.1 You have a right to occupy the property peacefully. We will not interrupt or interfere with that right 

as long as you, your lodgers, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home, 
keep to the conditions of this agreement, except where: 

 

1. access is required, subject to reasonable notice, to inspect the condition of your home or to 
carry out repairs or other works to your home or adjoining property; or 

 

2. we are entitled to possession at the end of the tenancy; 
 
4.1.2 While you are an introductory or a secure tenant, we can only end your tenancy by obtaining and 

executing an order for possession. More details are given of this in section 7 below. We may also 
apply for a demotion order under section 82A of the Housing Act 1985 (as amended by the Anti-
Social Behaviour Act 2003). If this tenancy has been demoted (which is similar to an introductory 
tenancy) we may ask the court to make a possession order under provisions of the Housing Act 
1996.  These give the court very limited powers to refuse a possession order.       

 
4.1.3  We can also ask the court to make an injunction under the provisions of the Housing Act 1996 (or 

for any other similar order which may replace it). An injunction may include a power of arrest and 
an order excluding you from your home or other area to stop you from breaching any terms of this 
agreement or using your home for unlawful purposes.  We may also apply for an injunction against 
an individual who engages in anti-social behaviour. 

 
4.1.4 Your right to occupy your home is at risk if you do not keep to the terms of this agreement or have 

proper respect for the rights of other tenants and other persons in the neighbourhood. 
 
4.1.5  You will remain an introductory tenant or a secure tenant only for so long as you occupy your home 

as your only or main home. 
 
 

4.2 Right to repair 
 
4.2.1  You have the right to have repairs carried out to your home under section 96 Housing Act 1985 (as 

amended); and the regulations made under it apply to this agreement. 
 
4.2.2  Your right to repair means that in certain circumstances if we do not do certain urgent repairs on 

time you can ask for another council-approved contractor to do the work. If the second contractor 
does not do the work on time you may be able to claim compensation. You may contact us for 
more information on this. 

 
 

4.3 Right to take in lodgers 
 
  You have the right to take in a lodger so long as you let us know the name of the lodger and that 

you do not allow your home to become overcrowded and exceed the permitted number as set out 
in 2.4 above. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have the right.   

 
 

4.4 Right to exchange your tenancy 
 
4.4.1  You have the right to exchange your tenancy with another or our tenants, a tenant of another 

council or a tenant of another registered provider of social housing, such as a housing association, 
provided that you have our written permission and the other tenant has the written permission of 
their landlord. Your right to exchange is governed by schedule 3 of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended), which states the grounds on which we can refuse to agree a mutual exchange. While 
you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right.   

 

19



 10 

4.4.2 You must pay any rent arrears or put right any other breach of your tenancy before we give 
permission for the exchange to take place. 

 
4.4.3 You must not ask another person to make a payment to you in connection with a tenancy exchange 

or make such a payment yourself. 
 
 

4.5 Right to transfer by exchange 

 
 You may also have the right to give up your tenancy and transfer to another property held by certain 

other assured shorthold or flexible tenants of a private registered provider of social housing or a 
local authority subject to the agreement of the other tenant and their landlord and our prior written 
consent. We can only withhold our consent on the grounds specified in Schedule 14 to the Localism 
Act 2011. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right. 

 
 

4.6 Right of succession 

 
4.6.1 Unless you are a successor yourself, if you die your tenancy will automatically pass to your spouse 

or civil partner if they were living with you at the time of your death. This is called “succession”. 
 
 A successor is someone: 
 

1. who obtained this tenancy or a previous tenancy from us as a result of the death of a previous 

tenant 
 

1. who was a joint tenant but following the death of the other joint tenant is now a sole tenant 
 

2. who has obtained this tenancy otherwise than by way of a tenancy exchange (unless they were 

a successor in respect of another tenancy) or an order made in family or civil partnership 

proceedings. 

 
4.6.2  If you do not have a spouse or civil partner and you are either an introductory tenant or a secure 

tenant whose tenancy agreement was made before 1 April 2012, then provided that you are not a 
successor as defined above the tenancy will pass to another member of your family as defined by 
section 113 of the Housing Act 1985 who has been living with you for a continuous period of at 
least twelve months before your death. If there is more than one person entitled to succeed and 
they cannot agree who is to do so, we will decide which person will have the tenancy. 

4.6.3  If you do not have a spouse or civil partner and you are a secure tenant whose tenancy agreement 
was made on or after 1 April 2012, we will not allow anyone else to succeed to the tenancy. 
However we may (although we are not obliged to do so) grant a new tenancy of your home (or of 
other accommodation if that is more suited to their housing need) to a person who has been living 
with you for a continuous period of at least twelve months before your death. This will usually, but 
not always, be a member of your family as defined above or a carer. We will ask for proof of 
residency and look for evidence that your family member was residing with you. If there is more 
than one person who is entitled to claim a new tenancy and they cannot agree who is to do so, we 
will decide who (if anyone) will have a new tenancy. 

4.6.4 If a joint tenant dies the tenancy will pass to the other joint tenant; and that will count as the statutory 
succession. 

 
4.6.5 If someone succeeds under 4.6.2 above to a property that is larger than their reasonable housing 

needs require or it is designated as sheltered accommodation and the successor is under the 
minimum age to qualify to live there, we will expect them to move to more suitable and where 
appropriate smaller accommodation that will be offered to them. If they refuse to accept the 
alternative accommodation offered, we have the right to apply to court for an order for possession. 

 

20



 11 

4.6.6 We cannot compel a successor who was your spouse or civil partner or a person living with you as 
your spouse or civil partner to move to accommodation more suited to their needs; but we may 
offer them such a move. If they request a move, we will try to help them with their request.  

 
4.6.7 While this tenancy remains an introductory tenancy, a successor will succeed to an introductory 

tenancy. 
 
 

4.7 Right to improve 
 
  Subject to section 6.10 below you have a general right to improve your property provided the 

improvement is agreed by us, complies with all planning, building and environmental requirements, 
does not affect your neighbours adversely and does not damage or affect the property or 
neighbouring properties adversely. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right.   

 
 

4.8 Right to compensation for improvements 

 
  When your tenancy comes to an end you may claim compensation for certain types of 

improvements you have made to your home so long as they’ve been made after 1 April 1994. You 
must have had our permission first (see section 6.10 below). You will need to be able to produce 
bills and receipts to support your claim. We will then work out how much compensation to pay you 
after allowing for wear and tear, etc. You may contact us for more information on this. While you 
are an introductory tenant you do not have this right.   

 
 

4.9 Right to buy 

 
  You have the right to buy your home (outright or under shared ownership) under the Housing Act 

1985 unless you live in sheltered housing or other housing excluded from this right by that 
legislation. While you are an introductory tenant you do not have this right but the time spent as an 
introductory tenant may count towards the qualifying period.   

 
 

4.10 Right to consultation  

 
 You have a right to be consulted on matters that affect or are likely to affect substantially the way 

your home is managed or maintained. We will always consult you before taking certain action 

including: 
 

1. changing the terms of this agreement; 
 

2. changing the way we manage your estate; 
 

3. changing our policy on repairs and maintenance; 
 

4. improving or demolishing any properties; 
 

5. introducing new services we provide to your home that are not included in the services 
schedule attached to this agreement; 

 

6. changing the way we provide the support services at sheltered housing schemes. 
 
 

4.11 Right to complain 
 
 If we do not meet our responsibilities under this agreement you have the right to make a complaint 

using our complaints procedure. The procedure operates in accordance with the requirements of 
the Homes and Communities Agency or its successors as laid down from time to time. To make a 
complaint you should contact us by phone, letter, e-mail or in person at City Hall. 

 

21



 12 

4.12 Right to alternative accommodation 

 
 If we require you to move because we need to undertake major repairs or modernisation to your 

home as part of our investment programme we will offer you temporary alternative 
accommodation that reasonably suits your needs in terms of type, size and location. Your 
security of tenure of and right to return to your property will not be affected 

 
4.13 Right to be treated equally 

 
 We are committed to preventing unlawful discrimination and promoting equal opportunities in the 

provision of all our services to the community. As such we aim to ensure equality of opportunity for 
all persons regardless of, for example, their race,  religion or belief, ethnic or national origin, 
disabilities, age, gender or gender reassignment, sexuality, medical or marital status. 

 
We aim to make sure that everyone has equal access to our housing services. We do this by: 

 

1. recognising that our customers have different needs;  
 

2. allocating resources fairly on the basis of need;  
 

3. taking positive action against discrimination; and 
 

4. promoting good race relations. 
 
  

22



 13 

Section 5 Our obligations to you 

 

5.1 Possession 

 
 We will give you possession of your home at the start of this agreement. 
 
 

5.2 Anti-social behaviour  

 
 We will deal very firmly with anti-social behaviour and take all reasonable steps to investigate your 

complaints into alleged breaches of tenancy by others. We will take such action as we consider 
appropriate in cases of anti-social behaviour, harassment/hate crime, including noise, threatening 
or intimidating behaviour, violence, vandalism, graffiti and pet nuisance.  

 
 

5.3 Liability  

 
 By law, we must remedy any defects in your home for which we are responsible that could damage 

your health. You must tell us about any such defects as soon as you know about them. If you do 
and we fail to remedy them you have the right to apply to the courts for an order forcing us to carry 
out our duties. 

 
                                                                                                                                                                                   

5.4 Repairs that are our responsibility  

 
5.4.1 We are responsible for repairs to the structure and exterior of your home including drains, gutters 

and outside pipes but excluding glazing. We will keep the installations in your home for gas, 
electricity and water supplies, heating and hot water, in good repair and working order. We are also 
responsible for basins, sinks, baths and lavatories. 

 
5.4.2 We are not responsible for repairing anything: 
 

 which you or someone living in or visiting your home have damaged; or 
 

 which you have brought to or fitted in your home; 
 

 anything for which you are responsible under clause 6.9.2.        
 
5.4.3 You must tell us immediately of any repair or defect that is our responsibility under this condition. 

We will usually make an appointment with you for our contractor to visit your home to inspect and/or 
undertake the work.  

 
5.4.4 You must contact us in advance if you are unable to keep a repairs appointment we have made for 

you. You must do this by the end of the working day before the date of the appointment. If you do 
not cancel an appointment we may charge you for the inconvenience caused to us and our 
contractors if we/they are unable to gain access to the property at the appointed time. 

 
5.4.5 We will take reasonable care to keep all communal areas and amenities in a condition where they 

can be used safely by you. This includes: 
 

1. lifts; 
 

2. laundries; 
 

3. drying rooms; 
 

4. common rooms; 
 

5. play areas; 
 

6. domestic refuse facilities 
 

and communally-provided equipment/installations including: 
 

23



 14 

 door entry; 
 

 alarm call; 
 

 fire alarm; 
 

 lighting 
 

 aerials 
 
 

5.5 Decoration 

 
 We will decorate the exterior of your home, exterior woodwork and communal areas as necessary. 

If our contractors damage your decorations during the course of any works, including repairs and 
improvements, we may offer a decoration grant subject to the extent of damage and the existing 
standard of decoration. We will not guarantee a match with your existing decorations or floor 
coverings. If decoration work is required because you are in breach of your tenancy you will be 
recharged for any works carried out. 

 
 

5.6 A professional service to you 
 
 At all times we will treat you with courtesy and respect. 
  
 

5.7 Transfers 
 

We will consider any application you make for a transfer to another property. We may refuse your 
transfer application if you owe us rent and/or maintenance or repair charges and/or we have started 
possession proceedings to end your tenancy.   

 
 

5.8 Boundaries 

 
 We will use our best endeavours to tell you which boundaries to your property you are responsible 

for. 
 
  

24



 15 

Section 6 Your obligations to us 

 

6.1 Possession 
 

 You must take possession of your home at the start of this agreement and live in it as your only or 
main home.  

 
6.2 Rent and charges 
 

 You agree to pay the total weekly rent at the times and in the manner specified in section 2.6. 

 
6.3 Support 
 

 You agree to comply with your obligations regarding support which are set out in section 3.8 of 
this agreement. 

 
6.4 Anti-social behaviour  
 

6.4.1 As a tenant you are responsible at all times for the conduct of your friends, relatives and any other 
person living in or visiting your home, including children. Any breach of this agreement by them will 
be treated as a breach by you.  

 
6.4.2 You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home must not: 

 

 do anything that causes or is likely to cause a nuisance, annoyance, harassment, alarm or 
distress to any other person living, visiting or working in the neighbourhood; 

 

 do anything that interferes with the peace, comfort or convenience of other people living, visiting 
or working in the neighbourhood; 

 

 cause damage to property belonging to us or other people or organisations in the 
neighbourhood; 

 

 commit any criminal offence in or in the neighbourhood of your home; 
 

 use your home for any criminal, immoral or illegal purpose; 
 

 keep any firearm, shotgun or any item made for use as a weapon in your home without the 
necessary certification required by law. You must also request written permission from us to 
keep these items.  

 

 
6.4.3 Conduct for which we can take legal action against you for breach of tenancy includes but is not 

limited to: 
 

 using or threatening violence; 
 

 intimidating behaviour and abusive language including persistent arguing; 
 

 racism, including (but not restricted to) racist comments, abusive letters, telephone calls, text-
messages, emails, posts on social networks such as facebook, and posters; 

 

 noise at a level that is unreasonable and intrusive or disturbing to neighbours, including loud 
music, television, radio, diy and noise outside your home e.g. car stereos, shouting and parties, 
etc.  

 

 not keeping your children’s behaviour or visiting children’s behaviour under control; 
 

 persistently banging and slamming doors; 
 

 deliberately damaging and/or vandalising property; 
 

 criminal convictions for offences committed in your home or neighbourhood, including theft, 
offences against the person, affray, sexual offences and fraud; 

 

 drug-dealing, possession, cultivation or production; 

25



 16 

 

 playing ball games close to properties or vehicles where this causes a persistent nuisance or 
where it is prohibited; 

 

 skateboarding, cycling and other similar activities on council-owned footpaths where this causes 
a nuisance; 

 

 dumping rubbish anywhere other than on a civic amenity site or at a facility designated for this 
purpose; 

 

 graffiti and other markings; 
 

 not keeping your pets under control and allowing dogs to bark persistently or foul communal 
areas; 

 

 breaking shared security e.g. letting strangers into communal blocks and jamming communal 
entry doors open; 

 

 persistently repairing motor vehicles; 
 

 inciting or encouraging any other person to do any of the above; and 
 

 voluntary membership of a gang or allowing a member of a gang to visit the property. When we 
refer to a “gang” we mean the definition applied by the Metropolitan Police as amended from 
time to time, which is a “group of individuals involved in persistent criminality for some form of 
personal gain (this includes profit and/or to gain or demonstrate status) which is causing 
significant harm to the community and/or is of cross-border concern”. 

 
6.5 Harassment  
 

6.5.1 You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home must not 
harass anyone in your home or in the neighbourhood because of, for example, his or her race, 
colour, appearance, religion or belief, ethnic or national origin, gender or gender reassignment, 
disabilities, age, sexuality, pregnancy or their medical or marital status. This includes such conduct 
towards our staff or contractors. Harassment or ‘hate crime’ is a criminal offence. 

 
6.5.2 Harassment includes but is not limited to: 

 

 intimidation; 
 

 violence or threats of violence towards the person, their children, family members and pets; 
 

 verbal, written or internet/social networking-based abuse or insults; 
 

 damaging or threatening to damage property belonging to another person, including damage to 
any part of their home; 

 

 writing threatening, abusive or insulting graffiti or posting offensive material or objects to 
someone’s home; 

 

 doing anything likely to interfere with a person’s peace or comfort that is personally targeted at 
them because of who or what they are. 

 
6.6 Our employees, agents, representatives and contractors 
 

6.6.1 We wish to make our service accessible and responsive to all tenants. We will not tolerate 
threatening or intimidating behaviour, harassment, physical violence, verbal abuse or aggression 
towards anyone, including our staff, agents and contractors, wherever this takes place. We will 
take legal action against you if you breach this condition. This applies to you, people who live with 
you (including your children) and people who are visiting you and their children. 

 

6.6.2 You must treat our staff, agents, representatives and contractors and anyone acting on our behalf 
with courtesy and respect and you must not make offensive comments to them. We will support 
these people if they refuse to interview, visit, or speak to you on the telephone. We may also refuse 
you entry to our offices. 

26



 17 

 
6.7 Domestic violence  
 

 You must not use, attempt or threaten to use violence or abuse, whether physical, emotional, 
sexual, mental or economic, against any other person (including children) living with you or within 
an intimate and/or family relationship. If you do and that person and/or their children have to leave 
your home because of your conduct we may take steps to evict you from your home. 

 

6.8 Looking after your home 

 
6.8.1 You must look after your home. You, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person 

living in your home must: 
 

 not cause damage to your home, to our property or to the property of your neighbours; 
 

 not neglect your home or let it fall into disrepair; 
 

 keep the inside of your home clean and in good decorative order; 
 

 take reasonable precautions to prevent water pipes bursting through frost or the property being 
damaged by fire; 

 

 keep your home secure at all times using all security locks where provided; 
 

 keep your windows clean unless you pay for this through a service charge, in which case it will 
be listed in section 2.5 above; 

 

 not cause damage to any of our fixtures and fittings, including glass, inside your home or in 
communal areas, deliberately or through misuse or negligence; 

 

 provide safe storage and recharging facilities for motorised wheelchairs/scooters that belong to 
you. In sheltered housing we may provide storage and recharging facilities for electric 
wheelchairs/scooters. It will remain your responsibility to ensure that they are safe and secure 
within that designated area.  

 
6.8.2 If you live in a flat or maisonette other than on the ground floor and are not planning to install 

appropriate floor coverings such as carpet and underlay in living rooms, bedrooms, hallways, stairs 
and landings; and vinyl or linoleum in kitchens, bathrooms and lavatories you must seek our 
permission first before installing any other type of covering such as laminate flooring. 

 
6.8.3 You must report any repairs that are our responsibility without delay and as soon as you are aware 

of them. This includes repairs such as blocked drains, water leaks, structural defects and 
problems with water, gas electricity and fire appliances. You must not prevent our staff or 
contractors from carrying out the required work and you must co-operate in making appointments 
for them to attend your home. 

 
6.8.4 You are responsible for repairing any damage to your home that is caused deliberately or 

negligently by you, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your 
home. You will also have to pay for the cost of repairing any damage to other property or to the 
communal areas which is caused deliberately or negligently by you, your children, friends, relatives, 
visitors and any other person living in your home. 

 
6.8.5 If we consider that repair or replacement of such damage is necessary: 
 

 You may arrange for the repair or replacement to be carried out by a suitably qualified person, 
at your own expense, within an agreed period of time and to our satisfaction. 

 

 If you fail to do so, we may carry out the repair or replacement and charge you for the cost of 
the works, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.9 Repairs and decorations that are your responsibility  
 

27



 18 

6.9.1 You are responsible for keeping your home clean and in a good state of decoration, and for 
renewing or replacing the following items, unless they are our responsibility under sections 5.4 and 
5.5 above and/or they require replacing through normal fair wear and tear: 

 

 Door locks, keys and fobs including suited keys (fobs, communal and suited keys are only 
obtainable from us at City Hall); 

 

 Door furniture; 
 

 Cupboard latches; 
 

 Light pull cords that aren’t attached to the electricity supply; 
 

 Waste bins; 
 

 Internal decoration; 
 

 Lavatory seats and lavatory roll holders; 
 

 Shower hoses and spray heads that are not part of the fixed plumbing system; 
 

 Plugs and chains to sinks, wash handbasins and baths; 
 

 Internal doors; 
 

 Architraves [the moulded trim around door frames]; 
 

 Skirting boards, pelmets and curtain battens; 
 

 Coat rails and hooks; 
 

 Floor tiles and glazed wall tiles; 
 

 Door bells; 
 

 Broken windows and front/back door glass caused by accidental damage or without a crime 
reference number; 

 

 Smoke alarm batteries; 
 

 Washing lines and rotary driers unless communal. 
 
6.9.2 In addition you are also responsible for: 
 

 clearing blocked wastes to sinks, baths, showers and wash handbasins; 
 

 plumbing-in to washing machines and dishwashers; 
 

 easing of doors to fit carpets; 
 

 minor repairs to plaster cracks in walls; 
 

 minor repairs to kitchen units, e.g. tightening screws to and adjusting drawers and cupboard 
doors; 

 

 re-setting time clocks; 
 

 bleeding radiators; 
 

 other fixtures and fittings, and any alterations or improvements you have made.  
 
6.9.3  We may at your request and at our discretion carry out repairs for which you are responsible if you 

and your household are not able to do so or are unable to arrange the work because of your age 
or a disability or other special reason.  If so, we will charge you for the cost of the work, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. We will tell you how much this work is going to cost before 
doing it. 

 
 

6.10 Alterations and improvements 

 
6.10.1 You do not have the right to alter or improve your home in any way unless and until this tenancy is 

or has become a full secure tenancy.  If this tenancy is or does become a secure tenancy you must 

28



 19 

not make any alteration, improvement or addition to your home or its fixtures, fittings and 
outbuildings without first obtaining our written permission. We will not unreasonably withhold our 
permission but we may attach conditions, including a condition that you return your home to its 
original state before the end of your tenancy. This also includes adaptations to your property 
because of a disability you may have. 

 
6.10.2 As well as obtaining our permission you must apply for and obtain any planning, building control 

and other permissions that are needed. These are not covered by our written permission as 
landlord and are given separately by the planning department. We may withdraw any permission 
granted under this agreement to alter, improve or add to your home if other permissions are not 
obtained or if works are carried out otherwise than in accordance with those permissions. 

 
6.10.3 You must not alter or decorate the outside of your home in any way without our written permission. 

For example, you must not fix a security grille to your external windows or doors or put up a satellite 
dish, aerial or other radio or telecommunications equipment to the exterior of your home. You must 
not erect or alter anything else including garages, sheds, greenhouses, pigeon lofts, parking 
spaces, driveways and walls without our written permission. 

 
6.10.4 Any alteration, improvement or addition carried out must be undertaken by a suitably qualified 

person. In the case of electrical work, this means an NICEIC or NAPIT-registered and qualified 
electrician, and in the case of gas work, this means a Gas Safe Register (formerly CORGI) 
registered gas engineer. You must supply us with a valid certificate in respect of gas or electrical 
work carried out. Failure to do so within six months will result in our obtaining our own test certificate 
and re-charging you for the cost of doing that, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.10.5 We have the right to inspect any work that you have carried out. 
 
6.10.6 You are liable for any damage caused to your home or adjoining property or its fixtures and fittings 

resulting from any improvements, alterations or additions that you make. Any work necessary to 
repair damage caused to your home or any adjoining property resulting from improvements, 
alterations or additions you have made must be carried out to our reasonable satisfaction. If it is 
not, we may carry out the work required and if we do we are entitled to charge you for the cost of 
the work, plus a reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.10.7 If you carry out any alteration or improvement which needs to be removed and reinstated in order 

for us to fulfil our own repairing obligations you will be responsible for the cost of removal and 
reinstatement and any consequential damage caused to the property in doing this. 

 
6.10.8  Any approved alterations and improvements automatically become our property when your tenancy 

ends (except for satellite dishes and television/FM aerials) unless we ask you to remove them in 
accordance with section 6.10.1. 

6.10.9 If you make any improvements or alterations without our permission or if you fail to remove any 
improvements or alterations when required to do so, you agree that we may remove them at that 
time or when your tenancy ends; and, if we do, may charge you for the cost of the work, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
 

6.11 Insurance 
 
6.11.1 You must arrange your own insurance for an alteration, improvement or addition to your home 

made by you and for any fixtures or fittings left by a previous tenant and accepted by you as part 
of the tenancy. 

 
6.11.2 We insure the structure of your home. You are responsible for insuring the contents and insuring 

against personal liability. You can be liable for damage to your home or injury caused to another 
person and you should make sure that you have adequate insurance against such risks. 

 
 

6.12 Health and safety  

29



 20 

 
6.12.1 You must not do anything in your home or the locality that could cause a danger to others living in 

your home or neighbourhood. This includes allowing anyone into the shared areas of a building 
unless you know that they have a right to be there.  

 
6.12.2 If we have fitted a smoke detector in your home you must: 
 

 check it regularly by pushing the test button; 
 

 if you live in sheltered accommodation, report any defect to your scheme manager; 
  

 If you fit your own smoke detector, you must ensure it conforms to British Safety Standard BSS 
5445 part 1 and contains the British Standard kite mark (or any replacement safety standard).  

 
6.12.3 You must not store anything at your home that is dangerous or may become dangerous or might 

cause fire, flood or other damage to your home or other properties in the neighbourhood. In 
particular, you must not: 

 

 use portable/free-standing oil, paraffin or liquid petroleum gas (LPG) heaters without our prior 
written permission; 

 

 store inflammable materials, liquids or gases in your home other than such as may be 
reasonably required for normal domestic or medical use, or in a manner that contravenes 
manufacturer’s instructions or advice or legal regulations on use and storage; 

 

 store dangerous or offensive substances in communal areas; 
 

 alter or tamper with the electricity or gas supply, including door entry, fire alarm or alarm call 
equipment; 

 

 tamper with any equipment for detecting or putting out fires. 
 
6.12.4 You must co-operate and comply with any measures taken to protect the security of your home 

and adjacent properties. This includes the requirement to keep all external doors closed at all times. 
You must comply with instructions on how to use alarm call systems. 

 
 

6.13 Disposal of rubbish 
 
6.13.1 You must: 
 

 dispose safely and hygienically any hazardous waste, including syringes, nappies, sanitary 
towels and incontinence pads and do so in designated areas only; 

 

 keep communal areas, passages, footpaths, lifts and fire exits clear and free from rubbish; 
 
6.13.2 You must not: 
 

 leave syringes or needles in any area where others, particularly children, might come into 
contact with them; 

 

 throw anything out of windows or off balconies; 
 

 cause drains or wastes to become blocked as a result of putting inappropriate items down them 
such as oils and fats, disposable nappies, “Wet Wipes” or equivalent, and anything bulky and/or 
not bio-degradable. 

 
 

6.14 Gardens and balconies 
 
6.14.1 You must:  
 

1. keep your garden and balcony areas (if any) tidy and free from rubbish and obstruction. This 
includes boundary markings; 

 

30



 21 

2. ask for our written permission before you plant trees or large shrubs in your garden. You will 
become responsible for any future works and costs associated with any trees or large shrubs 
you plant; 

 

3. unless agreed otherwise in writing in relation to particular trees in your garden, at your own 
expense ensure that any trees or bushes in your garden are kept to a manageable height and 
spread and do not cause nuisance or damage to your neighbours or their or our property 
through, for example, root damage. 

 
6.14.2 You must not: 
 

 use any garden or balcony to store rubbish or scrap; 
 

 do anything on the balcony, in the garden or outside areas that is likely to cause a nuisance to 
other people such as allowing water to escape, lighting fires or throwing items; 

 

 allow children onto balconies, or any other area which could prove dangerous, without 
responsible adult supervision; 

 

 construct a pond without our written permission or carry out any work to your garden without 
our written permission that requires excavation or installing a water or electricity supply;  

 

 cut down or uproot any trees or remove, alter, replace or plant any hedge or fence at your home 
without first getting our written permission.  

 

6.15 Pets and other animals 

 
6.15.1 You must ask for and get our written permission before keeping any pet in your home. This includes 

pets you intend keeping outside either in the open or in cages or enclosures. Permission is not 
required for you to have a registered assistance (e.g. guide dog); but you must tell us. 

 
6.15.2 We will not refuse permission unreasonably in the case of pets that we consider suitable and in 

such numbers as we consider reasonable for the size of your home, for health and hygiene. We 
will normally give permission for up to two domestic pets of the following kinds: 

 

6 domestic cats and dogs; 
 

7 other small domestic animals such as rabbits, chickens (but not cockerels) hamsters, guinea 
pigs, mice, gerbils and rats; 

 

8 small birds such as budgerigars and canaries; 
 

9 fish; 
 

10 non-poisonous/venomous insects and spiders; 
 

10.24 non-poisonous/venomous snakes and reptiles under two feet in length (fully grown). 
 
6.15.3 We will normally refuse permission in the following circumstances: 
 

 Dogs, other than registered assistance dogs, and cats are not allowed in multi-storey blocks in 
any circumstances; 

 

 Dogs and cats are not normally allowed in flats or maisonettes unless there is direct access to 
a private garden; 

 

 Permission will not be given to keep a dog that is prohibited by the Dangerous Dogs Act 1991 
or any similar legislation, or any other wild, dangerous or poisonous creature or any animals 
covered by the Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976; 

 

 Permission will not be given to keep livestock, including horses, ponies or similar animals except 
chickens as in 6.15.2 above. 

 
6.15.4 If permission is given, you must not: 

 

 allow a dog to become distressed, causing it to bark and cause a nuisance to your neighbours, 
through, for example, being left alone in the property; 

 

31



 22 

 cause a nuisance by breeding any animals or birds at your home; 
 

 allow any pet you keep at your home to cause a nuisance or danger to anyone in the 
neighbourhood; 

 

 leave a pet unattended or unrestrained in a communal area outside or inside; 
 

 allow pets to foul the communal areas around your home or footpaths or play areas in the 
neighbourhood; 

 

 allow your property to become hazardous to health; 
 
6.15.5 If permission is given, you must: 
 

 keep dogs on a lead in communal areas and on our land; 
 

 keep dogs restrained when our employees, contractors or agents are visiting you; 
 

 clean up after your dog or cat by removing and disposing of faeces hygienically, using dog bins 
if provided; 

 

 keep pets in appropriate enclosures, which are adequate for their needs and from which they 
cannot escape. 

 
6.15.6 If in our reasonable opinion there has been a breach of the terms set out in sections 6.15.4 or 

6.15.5, or we consider that your pet has caused damage to your home, other property or a nuisance 
or annoyance to anyone in the neighbourhood we may give you notice withdrawing our permission 
and ask you to remove it from your home. You must do this within the time stated in the notice. 

 
 

6.16 Household pests 

 
6.16.1 We will arrange for treatment to be carried out where infestations of pests occur in communal areas 

of blocks of flats or sheltered schemes. 
 
6.16.2 You are responsible for getting rid of infestations in your home and where necessary for paying for 

a contractor to get rid of them. If you fail to do this, we may arrange for the necessary work to be 
done and if we do may charge you for the cost of the work, plus a reasonable administration fee 
and VAT. 

 
6.16.3 You must not feed pigeons, squirrels and other vermin either at your home or in communal areas. 
 
 

6.17 Communal areas  
 
6.17.1 You must not place or store any items in communal areas and communal balconies. You must 

keep them free from rubbish and obstructions such as bicycles, mopeds, wheelie bins, 
prams/pushchairs, furniture or wheelchairs including motorised versions. If you break this condition 
we may charge you for the cost of removing and storing or disposing of the item(s) plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.17.2 You must co-operate with your neighbours in keeping communal areas and communal balconies 

clean and tidy in between cyclical cleaning service visits, if these are provided. 
 
6.17.3 You may place a small area of carpeting or a mat immediately outside your front door but any 

carpeting or mats you place in communal areas must be certified non-slip. We reserve the right to 
ask you to remove anything of this nature in communal areas that we believe could be classified 
as a trip, fire, or other hazard.  

 
 

6.18 Parking and vehicle repairs    

 
6.18.1 You are responsible for: 
 

32



 23 

 any vehicle parked at your home, elsewhere on our land or in the neighbourhood wherever and 
however it is parked; 

 

 the contents of your vehicles when parked on our land or surrounding area; 
 

 any injury or damage caused by the presence of your vehicles. 
 
6.18.2 You must not: 
 

 park any motor vehicle at your home or any communal areas other than a private car, motorbike 
or other equivalent vehicle; 

 

 park caravans, boats, trailers, lorries or any other business vehicles at your home or any 
communal areas without first obtaining our written permission; 

 

 park any vehicle which is untaxed or unroadworthy at your home (other than in an integral 
garage) or on any communal parking areas; 

 

 park on any forecourt, including block and estate entrances and garage areas, unless 
designated for this purpose or on any grassed areas or areas marked with yellow lines and/or 
boxes; 

 

 park in a way that might cause an obstruction to other properties, dropped kerbs or disabled 
accesses; 

 

 park in designated turning areas; 
 

 park in a way which might obstruct access for emergency vehicles, other vehicles, road users 
and pedestrians; 

 

 park a vehicle within the boundaries of your home (otherwise than in a garage) unless there is 
a dropped kerb access from the public highway and a hard standing which has been constructed 
to our specification and satisfaction, and with our written permission; 

 

 drive across a grassed area, verge or pavement, without first obtaining written permission from 
us and from the highway authority; 

 

 keep mobility scooters in communal areas such as entrances, passages, landings, stairways 
and any other internal areas used by tenants; 

 

 use communal electricity supplies, other than designated charging points, to charge batteries 
for mobility scooters, electric cars or any other private electrical device; 

 

 keep motorbikes or mopeds inside your home or in communal areas such as entrances, 
passages, landings, stairways, any other internal areas used by tenants and in any external 
sheds or stores (except garages) that are physically attached to your home or the block that 
contains it. 

 
6.18.3 You agree that we may remove any vehicles that we reasonably consider to have been abandoned, 

any vehicles parked in unauthorised areas (including internal communal areas) and any vehicles 
that we consider to be unroadworthy or dangerous. We may also remove any vehicle parts that are 
left on land belonging to us. If we have to do this and you are responsible for the vehicle or parts, 
we may charge you for the cost of removing and storing or disposing of it plus a reasonable 
administration fee and VAT. 

 
6.18.4 You must not: 
 

 carry out repairs to a vehicle that is not owned by you or a member of your household; 
 

 carry out major repairs to your own vehicles including engine changes, body part replacements 
and paint spraying, at your home or on any communal areas or any land belonging to us; 

 

 dump any vehicle parts or scrap on communal areas or other land owned by us. 
 
6.18.5 You may carry out routine maintenance such as changing tyres, plugs and oil but in doing so you 

must not: 
 

1. when changing oil, allow it to contaminate roadways, garage forecourts or paths; 

33



 24 

 

2. pour oil, fuel, or any chemical substance down drains or gullies or onto gardens. 
 

3. cause a hazard or nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or obstruction to traffic or to other road 
users. 

 
6.18.6 You must remedy any damage caused to your home, communal areas, garage forecourts, roads 

or paths resulting from vehicle repairs and maintenance you have carried out. If you do not, we 
may carry out any necessary repairs and we may then charge you for the cost of the work, plus a 
reasonable administration fee and VAT 

 
6.18.7 Where there is a communal car parking area you and your visitors must park only in spaces 

designated for your use, respect the rights of other residents to park their vehicles and ensure that 
the area is used by your visitors for short stays and not used for any purpose other than for visiting 
you. 

 
 

6.19 Using your home 

 
6.19.1 You (or if you hold a joint tenancy, one of you) must live in the property as your only or main home. 

If you are planning to be away from the property for more one month at any one time you must tell 
us. You must also leave your contact number or address and also the contact details of someone 
who can give us access to the property if required. You must also tell us when you intend returning 
to the property and the reason for your absence. If you do not do all of these things we may take 
action to re-possess the property on the basis that you have abandoned it. 

 
6.19.2 You must not run a business or trade from your home without first obtaining our written permission. 

We will not refuse permission unreasonably but we may do so if we consider that the business is 
likely to cause a nuisance, damage to your home or if you are intending to sell illegal or restricted 
goods or services. 

 
6.19.3 If we do give permission for you to run a business from your home: 
 

 you must ensure that you comply with any necessary legal, building regulations or planning 
requirements and that you are suitably insured. You must also send us copies of any legal, 
planning or building regulations approvals; 

 

 you must not place or exhibit any advertisement, notice or sign visible from outside the property 
advertising any profession, trade or business or any goods or services. 

 
6.19.4 If in our reasonable opinion your business causes a nuisance to other people, such as neighbours 

and other local residents, we may give you notice withdrawing our permission from the date stated 
in the notice. If we withdraw our permission and you continue to run a business from your home 
we may take legal action against you which could result in your being evicted from your home.   

 
 

6.20 Sub-letting your property  

 
6.20.1 While you are an introductory tenant you are not entitled to sub-let any part of your property. You 

must not, when you are a secure tenant, sub-let or hand over any part of your home: 
 

 without first obtaining our written permission, which will not be withheld unreasonably; 
 

 at any time when you are not occupying another part of your home as your only or principal 
home. 

 
6.20.2 You must not sub-let or hand over your entire property in any circumstances. If you do, you will no 

longer have a secure or introductory tenancy. 
 
6.20.3 You must not give away or sell the keys to your property to another person. 
 
 

34



 25 

6.21 Assignment  
 
6.21.1 You must not assign (legally “pass on”) your tenancy unless we have first given you our written 

permission and: 
 

 you wish to assign it to someone who would have been able to succeed to your tenancy 
immediately after your death as explained in sections 4.6.1, 4.6.2 or 4.6.4 above; 

 

 this tenancy has become a secure tenancy and you are assigning it under the right to exchange; 
 

 the assignment is made in accordance with an order of the court under one of a number of 
family law provisions governing both partners and children. 

 
6.21.2 We will not unreasonably withhold our permission. We will ask you to complete a deed of 

assignment document before assigning your tenancy. You may contact us for more information on 
this. 

 
6.21.3 If we give you our written permission to assign your tenancy you must not demand or receive any 

money for the purpose of encouraging the assignment to take place. If evidence comes to light that 
money has been exchanged for this purpose we may take legal action against you. 

 
 

6.22 Co-operating with us and access 

 
6.22.1 Our employees, agents or contractors may need to enter your home at reasonable times to inspect 

it or carry out repairs or other work to either your home or to neighbouring properties. We will tell 
you when we intend to call and normally give you 48 hours’ notice. You must allow access for this 
purpose. 

 
6.22.2 If we have given notice but you do not let us in we can ask the court to make an order that you do 

so. We may also charge you for any legal or other costs we incur, together with a reasonable 
administration fee and VAT.  

 
6.22.3 In the case of an emergency such as a water or gas leak, electrical fault or anything that could 

harm your or your neighbours’ health and safety, your property or adjoining properties we may give 
less than 48 hours’ notice. If we cannot obtain access to your home when we need to or if you fail 
to give us access to carry out gas servicing, you agree that we may force entry to it. We will make 
good any damage caused, including changing the locks. If the emergency has arisen as a result of 
your act or default, or that of a person living with or visiting you, you must pay to us the cost of 
making good together a reasonable administration fee and VAT.  

 
6.22.4 If you do not give us access to carry out gas servicing at your home (currently annually) we will 

take legal action against you in order that we may fulfil our legal obligations to carry out gas 
servicing in order to protect you and your neighbours, your home and adjoining properties. 

 
6.22.5 We issue identity cards to our staff and appointed agents (e.g. contractors and sub-contractors) 

which they are expected to display prominently or show you before coming into your home. You 
should always ask to see an identity card before letting anyone into your home. 

 
 

6.23 Overcrowding 

 
 You must not allow more than the number of persons shown in section 2.4 of this agreement to 

live in the property. The number of people living in the property is calculated as follows: 
 

 Infants under one year of age are not counted; 
 

 Infants and children over one but less than ten years of age count as half; 
 

 Children over ten years of age and adults count as one. 
 
 

35



 26 

6.24 Owning or renting other residential property 
 
 During your tenancy you must not (either solely or jointly) own or rent any other residential property 

that it would in our opinion be reasonable for you to live in as your home. You must tell us if you 
own another residential property or have any other residential lease or tenancy. 

 
 If you inherit a property this condition can only be broken once you have owned the property for 

more than twelve months. 
 
 In deciding whether you have broken this tenancy condition we will consider: 
 

 whether the property is fit to live in; 
 

 whether you have acquired the property for use as a holiday home, whether it is suitable for that 
purpose and whether there are restrictions on occupation as a home; 

 

 whether the property is suitable for your household, taking into account the property’s size, your 
income and employment, any disabilities or medical problems you have and any other relevant 
circumstances; 

 

 whether it would be reasonable in all circumstances for you to sell the property. 
 

 

6.25 Rules 

 
 You must comply with any estate rules or similar regulations that apply to the property and with 

any covenants, conditions or obligations which affect it and which are binding on us as tenant or 
owner of it. We will inform you if any of these apply at the beginning of your tenancy. 

 
 

6.26 Costs 
 
 You must pay to us any costs that we incur in taking legal action to enforce the terms of this 

agreement or to bring it to an end because of a breach by you of its terms. 
 
  

36



 27 

Section 7: Ending the tenancy 

 

7.1 If you wish to end your tenancy 

 
7.1.1 You can end your tenancy at any time by giving us at least 28 days’/four weeks’ notice to quit in 

writing, ending on a Monday. In the case of joint tenants, one tenant can end the tenancy by 
giving us notice in this way. 

 
7.1.2 If you die when a sole tenant, four weeks’ written notice to end the tenancy must be given by your 

next-of-kin or executors. The total weekly rent will still be due until the tenancy is ended and must 
be paid out of your estate. If we can re-let the property before the notice period expires and your 
next-of-kin or executors agree to this, we will waive any whole weeks’ rent due after the new 
tenancy begins. 

 
 

7.2 If we wish to end your tenancy 

 
7.2.1 If you cease to occupy your home as your only or principal home, we can end your tenancy by 

serving you with 28 days’/four weeks’ notice to quit in writing. 
 
7.2.2 If you are an introductory tenant, we can only evict you from your home by applying for, being 

granted and then executing a possession order granted by a court. We must first have served you 
with the correct notice as required by Section 128 of the Housing Act 1996. You have the right to 
request a review of our decision to serve the notice. If you do not request a review or we do not 
change our mind, we can apply to the county court for a possession order. Details of the review 
process will be set out in the notice. 

 
7.2.3 While you are a secure tenant, we can only evict you from your home by applying for, being granted 

and then executing a possession order granted by a court. We must first usually have served you 
with the correct notice of seeking possession for one or more of the specific reasons (or “grounds”) 
set out in the Housing Act 1985 as amended. This usually gives you four weeks to remedy your 
breach of tenancy. After that we can apply to the county court for a possession order. 

 
7.2.4 If one of the grounds on which we seek evict you is ground 2 (anti-social behaviour or conviction 

for an indictable offence) we can start proceedings immediately after serving you with the notice of 
seeking possession. We are also entitled to ask the court to dispense with the requirement for 
service of a notice regardless of what ground we rely upon. 

 
7.2.5 You may not be granted another tenancy by us if you: 
 

 are evicted from your home following a court order made because you have broken the terms 
of this agreement; 

 

 abandon your home and do not return the keys; 
 

 owe rent on your home or a previous tenancy; 
 

 leave your home in a poor condition and do not pay for repairs carried out by us on your behalf. 
 
 

7.3 Moving out 
 
7.3.1 Once you or we have given notice you must pay all outstanding debts due under the terms of this 

agreement, including rent and other charges. You must also allow us access with at least 24 hours’ 
notice for the following: 

 

 to carry out a pre-termination inspection of your home; 
 

 to photograph and/or video the property in order to market it to prospective new tenants and to 
create a record of its condition; 

 

 to carry out an asbestos survey if this is required; 
 

37



 28 

 accompanied viewings of the property by prospective new tenants. 
 
7.3.2 When you move out of your home you must leave it vacant, making sure no other person remains 

in occupation and you do not leave any pet behind. In addition your home must be in a good state 
of repair, free from damage and in clean condition, which includes being free from pests, vermin 
and rubbish. You must leave our fixtures and fittings in a good state of repair. This also applies to 
inside and outside communal areas, gardens, sheds, garages and other outbuildings. 

 
7.3.3 You must remove all your belongings. If you leave anything behind you agree that we are not 

responsible for loss or damage. We will remove it and will be entitled to charge you for the 
reasonable costs of removal and/or storage, whether the items belong to you or any other person. 

 
7.3.4 Provided that you can be contacted we will give you one month’s notice in writing to collect the 

items and we will store them during that time. If however an item is perishable or to look after it 
would be unreasonably expensive or inconvenient we may sell or otherwise dispose of it when and 
how we see fit. 

 
7.3.5 After one month, you agree that we will then become the owner of any items that you have not 

collected and may dispose of them in such manner as we decide. You must still pay to us the 
reasonable costs of disposal incurred by us. We are not obliged to sell anything that you leave 
behind but if we do, we will deduct the proceeds of sale from the costs of disposal and any other 
debts that you owe us (for example rent arrears). You agree that we can retain any surplus. 

 
7.3.6 If you leave any animals at your home we will re-home them immediately through recognised 

organisations such as the RSPCA. 
 
7.3.7 You must pay for any repairs or other works (including reinstatement to original condition where 

appropriate) that we have to carry out at the end of your tenancy that were your responsibility or 
were caused by a breach of this agreement. 

 
7.3.8 You must return all keys, fobs and entry-call keys to us when you move out of your home. If you 

do not do this we may change the locks and you must pay to us the cost of doing so. 
 
7.3.9 If as a result of your failure to comply with the terms of this agreement we are unable to let your 

home to someone else at the end of your tenancy, you must pay to us the equivalent of the rent 
that we would have received for the period until the property is ready to be let. 

 
We are subject to any guidance on housing management practice issued by the Homes and 
Communities Agency or its successors with the approval of the secretary of state; and this 
tenancy is one to which that guidance applies. 

 
 

Declaration 

 
By signing this tenancy agreement in the separate section with your tenancy details you are making a 
contractual commitment to abide by the terms of the tenancy and be responsible for all breaches, even 
if they were committed by someone else living with you, your children or any visitors. If you lied in 
any way in order to get this tenancy we can apply to the court for possession of the property.  
 
 

Data matching 

 
We are under a duty to protect the public funds we spend and administer. To this end we may use the 
information you have provided on this form for the prevention, identification and enforcement of tenancy fraud. 
We may also share this information with other organisations responsible for auditing or administering public 
funds for these purposes.  

 
You can get more information on this by going to http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/datamatchingstatement 

38

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/datamatchingstatement


 29 

 SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 
 
 
In accordance with section 3.7 of this agreement this is the complete schedule of services we may provide:  
 
Heating and hot water 
 
Repairs or maintenance contracts on boilers, heat exchangers, hot water tanks, communal radiators and pipes  
- only where the plant is not in the control of the landlord 
Depreciation of plant etc 
Fees for energy-saving consultants 
Fuel (gas, oil, electricity etc) 
 
 
Common parts and communal services. 
 
Cleaner’s wages including holiday relief 
Cleaning materials 
Electricity for lighting, power for vacuum cleaners etc 
Replacement lamps 
Window cleaning in common parts 
Refuse sacks, provision, hire of refuse containers 
Emergency lighting maintenance 
Communal television aerials/entry-phones etc and licence fee for a communal television. 
Smoke/fire alarm equipment maintenance 
Smoke dispersal equipment maintenance 
Maintenance of bin stores 
Fire fighting equipment maintenance 
Door entry system maintenance and servicing 
Pesticides and pest control contracts 
Communal telephone rental 
Maintenance of common parts, grounds and car parks 
Gardener’s wages/contractor’s charge 
Repair/maintenance of gardening tools and equipment 
Plants for gardens, shrubs and tree lopping (including annual provision if appropriate) 
Employer’s liability and third party insurances 
Ventilation and air conditioning equipment maintenance 
Maintenance of water softening and purification systems 
Plant and equipment testing required by statute (see exemption) 
 
 
Porters, wardens and caretakers: 
 
Salaries of wardens/scheme managers, caretakers etc  
Employer’s pension contributions 
Employer’s national insurance contributions 
Council tax, water and sewerage rates on accommodation 
Uniforms/overalls allowance 
Gas and electricity allowances on accommodation 
Decoration allowance on accommodation 
Notional reasonable rental value of rent-free accommodation 
 
 
Lifts: 
 
Electricity 
Repairs and maintenance contracts 
Insurance 
 
 

39



 30 

Special facilities: 
 
Electricity for lighting and cooking etc in communal rooms, laundries and kitchens 
Electricity for electric wheelchair and buggy charging points 
Decoration of communal rooms, laundry rooms etc 
Cleaning and repair of communal furniture, carpets etc 
Insurance of furniture 
Depreciation and maintenance of refrigerators, water heaters, cookers in communal kitchens, laundry 
equipment, communal room furniture and carpets 
Maintenance and depreciation of burglar alarms and security lighting 
Maintenance and depreciation of cookers, refrigerators and washing machines within the dwelling if repaired 
and maintained by the landlord. 
Maintenance of electric wheelchair and buggy stores 
Special facilities for the disabled. 
Charges for services provided under the ‘Supporting People’ scheme. 
 
 
Administration/supervision: 
 
Management charge (not applicable where any subsidiary company of ours carries out the work and includes 
such costs in its charge to us) 
Notional items such as the rent for accommodation and on depreciation. 
 

Depreciation & sinking funds for: 

 
Communal boilers 
Lifts 
Rubbish paladins 
Mowers 
Carpets to common parts 
Emergency lighting 
Fire alarms and equipment 
Door entry systems 
TV aerials 
Warden/alarm call systems 
Office furniture 

 

40



 
 
 
 

 
Repairs and Maintenance 

Policy  
 
 
 

 
 
 

Appendix Two 

41



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

2 
 

 

CONTENTS  

 

Introduction ………………………………………………………………………….………....3 

Aims and objectives of policy ………………………………………...………………….... 3 

Diversity and inclusion ……………………………………………………..…….…………. 3 

Regulatory requirements ………………………………………………..……….…..….......4 

 Quality of accommodation ……………………………………………………….…….4 

 Repairs and maintenance ………………………………………………………..…….4 

 Involvement and empowerment …………………………………………….....…….. 5 

Service delivery …...........................................................................................………….5 

 How to report a repair ………………......................................................................5 

Health and Safety ……....................................................................................................6 

Consultation……………..................................................................................................6 

Performance management ............................................................................................6 

Responsibilities ..............................................................................................................7 

 City of Lincoln Council ...........................................................................................7 

 Emergency repairs ................................................................................................7 

 Tenant responsibility .............................................................................................8 

Leaseholders .................................................................................................................12 

Access arrangements ..................................................................................................13 

Rechargeable repairs ...................................................................................................13 

Vulnerable tenants..............................................................................................................14 

Adaptations ...................................................................................................................14 

Alterations .....................................................................................................................15 

Right to Buy ..................................................................................................................15 

Complaints……………………….....................................................................................16 

 

 

 

 

42



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

3 
 

Introduction 

 

The City of Lincoln Council (CoLC) is a stock retained local authority, committed to 

providing the best services possible for our tenants, who occupy approximately 7,800 

properties throughout the city. Our homes are a mix of houses, bungalows, maisonettes 

and flats, some of which are in our three high rise blocks. 

 

The CoLC aims to deliver a continuously improving responsive repair and maintenance 

service by making sure that day to day repairs are carried out quickly, on time and to a 

high standard that customers are satisfied with, whilst maintaining value for money 

within the service at all times.  

 

The CoLC will ensure that all properties are repaired and maintained, providing a safe 

home environment for all its residents and tenants. The service area will also contribute 

to the financial viability of the organisation by improving performance, with a main focus 

on ‘right first time’ repairs wherever possible. 

 

Aims and objectives of policy 

 

At commencement of tenancy, the CoLC lets all properties to the ‘Empty Homes Letting 

Standard’ and throughout the life of our assets, we deliver improvements to our 

properties to maintain them to at least the Lincoln Homes standard (incorporates all 

aspects of the Decent Homes standard). 

 

Within the provision of the Housing Act 1985 (amended) each tenant has a right to 

repair. This policy identifies which repairs the CoLC are responsible for in line with the 

maintenance of housing stock and which repairs tenants are responsible for within the 

terms and conditions of their tenancy agreement.  

 

The CoLC will continually look to improve the repair and maintenance service and 

continually consult with tenants to seek their views on the quality of the service and the 

repairs carried out at their homes. 

 

Diversity and inclusion 

 

The CoLC will make sure that the principles of equality, diversity and inclusion are 

integral in the business planning and delivery of the repair, maintenance and void 

services, which work in tandem with this Repairs and Maintenance Policy. The CoLC is 

committed to  

43



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

4 
 

 

delivering its repair and maintenance service in a way which meets the diverse needs of 

local communities. This will be achieved by treating people fairly and taking the nine 

protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010 into consideration within all aspects of 

the repair service, including access to the service. 

 

Regulatory requirements 

 

The Home Standards contained in the revised Homes and Communities Agency 

Regulations, which came into effect on 1 April 2012, lay out the requirements for 

organisations in terms of repair and maintenance. The regulations state the following: 

 

Quality of accommodation 

Registered providers shall: 

 Ensure that tenants homes meet the standard set out in Section 5 of the 

Government’s Decent Homes Guidance and continue to maintain their homes to 

at least this standard. 

 Meet the standards of design and quality that applied when the home was built, 

and were required as a condition of publicly funded financial assistance, if these 

standards are higher than the Decent Homes Standard. 

 In agreeing a local offer, ensure that it is set at a level not less than these 

standards and have regard for Section 6 of the Government’s Decent Homes 

Guidance. 

 

Repairs and maintenance  

 

Registered providers shall: 

 Provide a cost effective repairs and maintenance service to homes and 

communal areas that responds to the needs of, and offers choice to, tenants and 

has the objective of completing repairs and improvements ‘right first time’. 

 Meet all applicable statutory requirements that provide for the health and safety 

of the occupants in their homes. 

 

The specific expectations relating to repair and maintenance is that:  

 Registered providers shall ensure a prudent, planned approach to repairs and 

maintenance of homes and communal areas. This should demonstrate an 

appropriate balance of planned and responsive repairs, and value for money.  

The approach should include responsive and cyclical repairs, planned and capital 

work; work on empty properties and adaptations. 

44



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

5 
 

 Registered providers shall co-operate with relevant organisations to provide an 

adaptations service that meets tenants needs. 

 

 

Involvement and empowerment 

 

 Registered providers shall ensure that tenants are given a wide range of 

opportunities to influence and be involved in the management of repair and 

maintenance services such as commissioning and undertaking a range of repair 

tasks as agreed with landlords, and the sharing of savings made. 

 

Service delivery 

 

The repair service is available 24-hours a day, 365 days of the year. A team of 

operatives work an 8am to 4pm shift pattern Monday to Thursday and 8am to 3:30pm on 

a Friday. Emergencies that are reported after 4pm Monday to Thursday or after 3:30pm 

on a Friday are passed to the emergency call out team. The call out team then work 

between 4pm and 8am each day and from 3:30pm on Friday until 8am on Monday. 

All emergencies will be attended within a 24-hour period. 

 

How to report a repair 

A request for a repair can be made by the following methods: 

 Online at www.lincoln.gov.uk 

 By telephoning Customer Services on 01522 873333 during opening hours. 

 In the event of an emergency, outside of office hours, telephone 01522 534747. 

 

When a request is received the CoLC will: 

 If on the phone – arrange an appointment with the customer at the earliest 

possible date available, that is suitable for the customer.  

 If online – the customer can select a preferred appointment time and Customer 

Services will try to find a suitable appointment to match the customer’s 

preference. Customer Services will then confirm the appointment by a phone call 

or a text message. 

 Complete emergency repairs within 24hours.  

 Complete other repair requests within an average of 15 working days. 

 

If the CoLC is called out to deal with a repair between the hours of 4pm and 8am during 

any day of the week, including Bank Holidays, and the repair is not a genuine 

emergency, the CoLC will recharge the full costs of the call-out to the tenant. 

45

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/


Implementation January 2017 
 
 

6 
 

 

 

 

Health and Safety 

 

The CoLC is committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment at all times 

under the Health and Safety at Work Act.  

 

In line with the CoLC’s Health and Safety Policy, all managers have responsibility for the 

employees they manage, to make sure that all of the CoLC’s working practices are in 

line with appropriate health and safety legislation and good practice, making sure that 

employees, tenants, buildings and stakeholders are safe.  

 

All employees (individually or collectively) must adhere to procedures and method 

statements which are designed for the protection of themselves and other people who 

they may have contact with. 

 

Consultation 

 

The CoLC will work with tenants to continually improve the repairs service in a range of 

ways including, focus groups, service review groups and tenant inspections, in line with 

published regulatory standards. 

 

Further information on how tenants can become involved in shaping the way we deliver 

services is available at www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/resident-

involvement/ 

 

Performance management 

 

There are a number of indicators recorded in respect of repairs and maintenance. 

Performance figures are presented to Housing Services Team, Lincoln Tenants Panel, 

Performance Scrutiny Committee and Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee. Targets for the 

team in 2016/17 are as follows: 

 An average end to end time of 15 days. 

 An average response time for emergency repairs of less than one day. 

 85% of repairs completed ‘right first time’. 

 95% of tenants satisfied with the repairs service. 

 

 

46

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/resident-involvement/
http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/resident-involvement/


Implementation January 2017 
 
 

7 
 

 

 

 

Responsibilities 

 

City of Lincoln Council  

 

The CoLC is responsible for the structure, exterior, services and common parts of the 

property including: 

 Drains, gutters and outside pipes. 

 Roof, external walls, doors and windows (excluding glass). 

 Installations for supplying water, gas and electricity. 

 Installations and appliances for heating the property and for hot water. 

 Basin, sinks, baths and toilets (excluding toilet seats). 

 Communal aerials. 

 Lifts and other communal amenities such as laundries, common rooms, door 

entry systems, fire alarms, corridors and waste chutes in high rises. 

 Pathways and steps which provide main access to the front and back door of the 

property. 

 Garages and outside brick built store places. 

 Lifeline/warden alarm units and their pull cords 

 Washing line posts. 

 

Emergency repairs 

 

 In the event of a gas leak (or smell of gas), call the gas emergency line 

immediately on 0800 111999. Turn the handle at the meter to the flat (horizontal) 

position. 

 If there is a problem with electricity, turn the mains switch on the consumer unit to 

the off position. If the tenant has a power cut call Western Power Distribution on 

0800 6783 105. 

 If there is a problem with water, turn the main stop tap to the right (clockwise) or 

turn off the sure stop. If the tenant has no water, then call Anglian Water on 0800 

771 881. 

 

Emergency repairs that are the responsibility of the CoLC will be attended to within 24 

hours of the problem being reported, unless there are factors that are outside of the 

organisation’s control, for example in the event of severe weather conditions that are 

47



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

8 
 

causing hazardous driving conditions, or where the number of emergencies impact on 

capacity and resources to deliver services. In such circumstances, tenants will be kept 

informed of any delays. 

 

 

Emergency repairs are those repairs that: 

 Remove immediate danger to the occupants of a property or an outside space. 

 Restore essential services such as heat and power. 

 Avoid major damage to a property such as a serious flood. 

 Make the property secure following a break in by changing locks or boarding a 

broken window. 

 Remove any possible health and safety risk. 

 

Tenant responsibility 

 

The terms of the Tenancy Agreement state that there are a number of obligations for a 

tenant once they sign to accept the keys for the property. These include but are not 

limited to: 

 Not cause damage to your home, to our property or to the property of your 

neighbours; 

 Not neglect your home or let it fall into disrepair; 

 Keep the inside of your home clean and in good decorative order; 

 Take reasonable precautions to prevent water pipes bursting through frost or the 

property being damaged by fire; 

 Keep your home secure at all times using all security locks where provided; 

 Keep your windows clean unless you pay for this through a service charge; 

 Not cause damage to any of our fixtures and fittings, including glass, inside your 

home or in communal areas, deliberately or through misuse or negligence; 

 Provide safe storage and recharging facilities for motorised wheelchairs/scooters 

that belong to you. In sheltered housing we may provide storage and recharging 

facilities for electric wheelchairs/scooters. It will remain your responsibility to 

ensure that they are safe and secure within that designated area.  

 You must report any repairs that are our responsibility without delay and as soon 

as you are aware of them.  

 You are responsible for repairing any damage to your home that is caused 

deliberately or negligently by you, your children, friends, relatives, visitors and 

any other person living in your home.  

48



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

9 
 

 You will also have to pay for the cost of repairing any damage to other property or 

to the communal areas which is caused deliberately or negligently by, your 

children, friends, relatives, visitors and any other person living in your home. 

 

Tenants are also responsible for renewing or replacing the following items unless 

they require replacement through normal wear and tear: 

 Door locks, keys and fobs including suited keys (fobs, communal and suited keys 

are only obtainable from the CoLC). 

 Door furniture. 

 Cupboard latches. 

 Internal decoration. 

 Toilet seats and toilet roll holders. 

 Shower hoses and spray heads that are not part of the fixed plumbing system. 

 Plugs and chains to sinks, wash hand basins and baths. 

 Internal doors. 

 Architraves (the moulded trim around door frames). 

 Skirting boards, pelmets and curtain battens. 

 Shelving. 

 Coat rails and hooks. 

 Floor tiles and glazed wall tiles with the exception of kitchens and bathrooms. 

 Door bells. 

 Broken windows and front / back door glass caused by accidental damage or 

without a crime reference number. 

 Cost of un-authorised removal of CoLC property including stair lifts. 

 Removal or re fixing of disabled adaptations due to carpet renewal. 

 

In line with the Tenancy Agreement tenants also have a responsibility for: 

 

Baths, basins, drains and waste 

 Initially trying to clear blocked baths, sinks and basins. Tenants will be recharged 

if, following the completion of the repair, the fault is found to have been caused 

by the tenant. 

 Replacing plugs and chains to baths, basins and sinks. 

 Repairing any items that have been fitted by the tenant previously. 

 Keeping gully grids clear of leaves and rubbish. 

 Clearing blockages in washing machines or dishwashers. If the tenant is fitting 

this as a new appliance they are responsible for this work 

 Environmental work including flea treatments/needle removal/body fluids or 

rubbish. 

49



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

10 
 

 Other fixtures and fittings, and any alterations or improvements that the tenant 

has made. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

 

Doors and locks 

 Replacement of keys/locks when keys have been lost or tenant has locked 

themselves out. 

 Fitting and repairing any additional locks and latches. 

 Replacing glass in any internal or external door. 

 Adjusting door when a new carpet fitted. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Electrics 

 Resetting trip switches and if necessary turning off the mains supply. 

 Replacing light bulbs, fluorescent tubes and starters. 

 Replacing electrical plugs and plug fuses for tenants own appliances. 

 Testing and cleaning of smoke detectors. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Floors and stairs 

 Repairing and replacing any floor coverings, vinyl tiles sheeting, carpets or 

laminates that the tenant has fitted.  

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Garden and garages 

 Repairing any fencing, patios, steps, sheds or other garden features, garages or 

driveways not originally provided by the CoLC and not in place at the 

commencement of tenancy. 

 Maintaining garden paths other than those giving main access to the front and 

back door of the property or to a CoLC washing line post. 

 Replacing keys or locks to garage or shed doors when the keys have been lost. 

 Renewing broken clothes lines. 

 Grassed areas and borders. 

50



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

11 
 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Gutters 

 Keeping gully grids clear from leaves and rubbish. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Heating 

 Checking that heating controls (room thermostat, timer or programmer) are set 

correctly. 

 Keeping the home properly heated and ventilated to prevent condensation or the 

build-up of carbon monoxide. 

 Keeping the home properly heated to prevent pipes from bursting particularly 

during cold weather, or whilst tenants are away from the property for a period of 

time. 

 Bleeding radiators. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 Gas and/or electric supply 

 

Kitchen fittings 

 Installation of washing machines, dishwashers or tumble driers including waste, 

supply pipes and vents if not already provided by the CoLC. 

 Repairing any extra units that have been installed in the property by the tenant. 

 Minor repairs to kitchen units e.g. tightening screws and adjusting drawers and 

cupboard doors. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Pipes and taps 

 Taking steps to prevent pipes from bursting during cold weather, particularly if the 

tenant is to be away from the property for any length of time. 

 Turning off the water supply at the stop tap or sure stop if a water pipe has burst, 

and then turning all the taps on to allow all remaining water to flow out. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Roofs and chimneys 

51



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

12 
 

 Putting up and securing TV aerials (except communal aerials). Tenants need 

permission to put up a satellite dish. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Toilets 

 Cleaning toilet pans. 

 Attempting to clear blocked toilets. If on repair it is found that the blockage is 

caused by the tenant, a member of their household or a visitor, then the tenant 

will be recharged. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Walls and ceilings 

 Decorating walls and ceilings inside the home. 

 Filling minor cracks and holes in walls and ceilings. 

 Keeping air vents clear and cleaning extractor fan vents. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear. 

 

Windows 

 Replacing broken or cracked glass where caused by accidental damage or 

without a crime reference number. 

 Keeping window trickle vents clear. 

 Any other repairs which investigations establish are not attributable to fair wear 

and tear.  

 

Leaseholders 

 

The CoLC is responsible for the structure of the building and any outbuildings/sheds, 

communal areas, systems and installations in leasehold blocks. The leaseholder is 

responsible for everything within the home, which is for their use and benefit. Rights and 

responsibilities for individual properties are contained within individual lease 

agreements. 

 

The Leaseholder service charge for day-to-day repair and maintenance is charged in 

advance as an estimated amount.  An adjustment is made to the service charge account 

for the following year for any difference between the estimated and actual costs. 

Employees will have regard for this when deciding upon the repair required at a 

52



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

13 
 

property, and should further clarity be required, the employee should contact the 

Finance and Leasehold Team Leader. We cannot charge an individual leaseholder more 

than £250 for any work unless we have first served a Section 20 Notice (this is done by 

the Finance and Leasehold Team who will advise employees on the process and 

timescales).  However, the following information provides a general summary of 

responsibilities relating to repair and maintenance which include: 

 The main structure, foundations, roof, guttering, communal drains, external pipe 

work and windows excluding glass (leaseholders are responsible for windows 

that they, or a previous leaseholder, have installed in their property). 

 Any communal services and any related machinery or installations connected 

with those services; this would include lifts and lighting in communal areas, door 

entry systems (including handsets within leasehold properties). 

 Communal areas, including external doors, passageways, staircases, halls, 

landings and any grounds within the estate such as bin or drying areas, which are 

jointly used by the tenants. 

 

Further information about service charges is available in our Leaseholders’ Guide which 

can be found at: 

www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/your-tenancy/leaseholder-rights-and-

responsibilities 

 

Access arrangements 

 

The following need to be taken into consideration when access is required to properties 

to complete a repair. 

 Tenants must allow authorised employees of the CoLC or other agents of the 

CoLC into their home during reasonable hours to inspect its condition, carry out 

repairs or improvements, or to service appliances. This also includes any other 

work that the CoLC consider necessary to ensure that the property and 

surrounding properties do not put the tenant or anyone else at risk. 

 Employees or contractors employed by the CoLC must have access to carry out 

gas servicing or electrical inspections as and when required. 

 Where possible the CoLC will give at least 24 hours advance notice, and all 

employees of the CoLC or its agents will carry formal identification at all times. 

 The CoLC may need to gain access to homes to inspect, clean or repair a home 

or neighbouring dwellings, or any sewers, drains, pipes, wiring or cable serving a 

home or neighbouring dwellings. 

 Authorised employees of the CoLC may need to enter a property without notice in 

an emergency, using reasonable force if necessary, if the CoLC feel there is a 

risk of personal injury or damage to property or surrounding properties. 

53

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/your-tenancy/leaseholder-rights-and-responsibilities
http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/housing/council-tenants/your-tenancy/leaseholder-rights-and-responsibilities


Implementation January 2017 
 
 

14 
 

 

Rechargeable repairs 

 

Tenants, their family members and any visitors to their home are responsible for any 

damage caused to the property, either caused accidently, deliberately or through 

neglect.  

 

The CoLC aim to make sure that all tenants are aware of their obligations not to damage 

or neglect CoLC property and that they are responsible for damage caused by their 

children, pets and visitors. This is formally agreed with the tenant when the tenancy 

agreement is signed. 

 

Where damage or neglect has occurred (for which the tenant is responsible) then the 

tenant can arrange for the damage to be repaired themselves, however, if this does not 

meet current health and safety, building regulation requirements or in the case of gas 

and electricity the current legislation or a suitable standard, the CoLC will carry out 

further works and charge the tenant the additional costs.  

 

In addition, the CoLC will not be liable if a tenant has installed a defective system, 

fixtures or fittings without permission. The CoLC may carry out and charge for repairs 

considered necessary for health and safety reasons or in situations of emergency, 

arising from the misuse of the property. This does not include repairs undertaken as a 

result of fair wear and tear. 

 

Vulnerable tenants 

When making a decision whether or not to recharge a tenant for repairs that can’t be 

attributable to fair wear and wear account must be taken of any vulnerability factors. 

 

A vulnerable tenant is someone who is or may be in need of community care services by 

reason of mental health or other disability, age or illness, who is or may be unable to 

take care of him or herself, or unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or 

exploitation. This includes individuals who might be in receipt of social care or health 

services. 

 

Each person should be considered individually. Where there are concerns that someone 

is potentially vulnerable the final decision to recharge or waive the charge will rest with 

the Tenancy Services Manager. 

 

Adaptations 

54



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

15 
 

 

Everyone’s housing needs are different and the CoLC offers permanent adaptations to 

resident’s homes to ensure that it remains suitable for their needs. The CoLC works with 

Lincolnshire County Council to provide adaptations to its properties. If an adaptation is 

assessed as being necessary and appropriate by Lincolnshire County Councils Social 

Services, it will be referred to the CoLC who will determine whether the request is 

‘reasonable and practicable’. If it is, the CoLC will install the adaptation. Permanent and 

semi-permanent adaptations are provided by the CoLC including stair lifts and through 

floor lift. Lincolnshire County Council will provide hoists and other aids through its social 

care teams. The CoLC will not remove adaptations from its properties for new tenants if 

the property is advertised with the adaptations. Any adaptations, including stair lifts or 

lifts, that are removed by the tenant without the CoLC permission will be recharged. 

Further information is available in our aids and adaptations policy. 

 

Alterations 

 

The CoLC recognise that tenants will want to make alterations and improvements to 

their homes. Where requests are reasonable they will not be refused. The terms of the 

Tenancy Agreement do however mean that an introductory tenant is not allowed to 

make alterations and improvements to their property within the first 12 months of their 

tenancy. Written permission must be obtained if tenants wish to carry out any of the 

following types of improvements: 

 Decorate any part of the outside of their home. 

 Make any structural changes or additions to the property. 

 Erect a shed, garage or any other external construction. 

 Remove, add or alter any part of a fence or garden wall. 

 Add to, change or replace any fixtures and fittings provided by CoLC. 

 Put up a satellite dish, television, radio or amateur radio aerial such as a Citizens 

Band aerial. 

 Apply artex to a ceiling. Artex is not allowed on walls. 

 Fit tiles to walls or floors. 

 Alter the electrical, gas, heating or water installations including having a water 

meter installed. 

 

The CoLC will not unreasonably refuse permission for such improvements or changes, 

but may impose conditions. If required, planning permission, building regulations 

approval or any other permission must be obtained before starting the work. The CoLC 

will provide any service contracts or repairs to any installation it has provided.  

 

55



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

16 
 

Right to Buy applications 

 

Once an application under the Right to Buy is received by the CoLC then there becomes 

a legal responsibility for the organisation to carry out emergency repairs only. This will 

make sure that the property remains wind and water tight and is fit for human habitation. 

Examples of repairs that might be carried out are as follows: 

 

 Serious water penetration. 

 No power. 

 No heating. 

 No bathing facilities. 

 Not being able to use a toilet when there is only one in the property. 

 

Complaints 

 

When a current or former tenant wishes to dispute the bill for rechargeable repairs they 

have received, this will in the first instance be to the employee who has issued the 

rechargeable repair letter advising that the charges are correct and due for payment.  

 

If this disagreement is not resolved, the current or former tenant can make a formal 

complaint using the following methods 

 

 Online at www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints  

 By email to complaints@lincoln.gov.uk  

 By telephoning 01522 881188 

 By letter to Housing Services  

City of Lincoln Council, 

City Hall,  

Beaumont Fee,  

Lincoln,  

LN1 1DD 

 

Complaints will be acknowledged and responded to within 10 working days. Further 

information is available at www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints  

 

 

 

56

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints
mailto:complaints@lincoln.gov.uk
http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints


1 
 

 

 
 

Rechargeable Repairs 
Policy  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Appendix Three 

57



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

2 
 

 
CONTENTS 
 
Introduction ………………………………………………………………………………3 
 
Aims and objectives of the policy…………………………………………………….3 
 
Diversity and inclusion………………………………………………………………….4 
 
Regulatory requirements……………………………………………………………….4 

Quality of accommodation……………………………………………………….4 
Repairs and maintenance………………………………………………………..4  
Involvement and empowerment…………………………………………………5 

 
Scope of the policy………………………………………………………………………5 
 
Section 4.2 right to repair…………………………………………………………….…5 
 
How to report a repair…………………………………………………………………...6 
 
Rechargeable repairs identified at repair appointment……………………………6 
 
Rechargeable repairs identified by a visiting officer………………………………7 
 
Property improvement…………………………………………………………………...8 
 
Mutual exchange………………………………………………………………………….8 
 
Rechargeable repairs identified as part of a void inspection…………………….8 
 
Rechargeable repair identified because of action  
taken by Lincolnshire Police……………………………………………………………8 
 
Vulnerable tenants………………………………………………………………………..9 
 
Payment for rechargeable repairs……………………………………………………..9 
 
Complaints…………………………………………………………………………………9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

58



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

3 
 

 
Introduction 
 
The City of Lincoln Council (CoLC) is a stock retained local authority, committed to 
providing the best services possible for our tenants who occupy approximately 7,800 
properties throughout the city. Our homes are a mix of houses, bungalows, maisonettes 
and flats some of which are in our three high rise blocks. 
 
The CoLC aims to deliver a continuously improving responsive repair and maintenance 
service, by making sure that day to day repairs are carried out quickly, on time, to a high 
standard that customers are satisfied with, whilst maintaining value for money in the 
service at all times.  
 
The CoLC will make sure that all properties are repaired and maintained, providing a 
safe home environment for all its residents and tenants. Where repairs are found to be 
not attributable to fair wear and tear then they will be treated as rechargeable. This 
document sets out what is to be classed as rechargeable and how tenants will be 
advised of these charges.  

 
Aims and objectives of policy 

The overall aim of this policy therefore is to ensure that the assets of CoLC are protected 
at all times and where it becomes apparent that they have been neglected by the current 
or former tenant then action will be taken to recover the costs associated with reinstating 
the property to the required standard, which meets current health and safety and 
building regulations or in the case of gas or electrical repairs current legislation.  
 

Tenants, their family members and any visitors to their home are responsible for any 
damage caused to the property, either caused accidently, deliberately or through 
neglect.  
 
The CoLC aim to make sure that all tenants are aware of their obligations not to damage 
or neglect CoLC property and that they are responsible for damage caused by their 
children, pets and visitors. This is formally agreed with the tenant when the tenancy 
agreement is signed. 
 
Where damage or neglect has occurred (for which the tenant is responsible) then the 
tenant can arrange for the damage to be repaired themselves, however, if this does not 
meet current health and safety, building regulation requirements or in the case of gas 
and electricity the current legislation or a suitable standard, the CoLC will carry out 
further works and charge the tenant the additional costs.  
 

In addition, the CoLC will not be liable if a tenant has installed a defective system, 
fixtures or fittings without permission. The CoLC may carry out and charge for repairs 
considered necessary for health and safety reasons or in situations of emergency, 
arising from the misuse of the property. This does not include repairs undertaken as a 
result of fair wear and tear 

 

 

 

59



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

4 
 

 

Diversity and inclusion 

The CoLC will make sure that the principles of equality, diversity and inclusion are 

integral in the business planning and delivery of the repair and maintenance and void 

services which work in tandem with this Rechargeable Repair Policy. The CoLC is 

committed to delivering its repair and maintenance service in a way which meets the 

diverse needs of local communities and will achieve this by treating people fairly and 

taking the nine protected characteristics of the Equality Act 2010  into consideration in all 

aspects of the repair service including access to the service. 

 

Regulatory requirements 

The Home Standards contained in the revised Homes and Communities Agency 
regulations which came into effect on 1 April 2012 lay out the requirements for 
organisations in terms of repair and maintenance. The regulations state the following.  

 

Quality of accommodation 

Registered providers shall: 

 Ensure that tenants’ homes meet the standard set out in Section 5 of the 
Government’s Decent Homes Guidance and continue to maintain their homes to 
at least this standard 

 Meet the standards of design and quality that applied when the home was built, 
and were required as a condition of publicly funded financial assistance, if these 
standards are higher than the Decent Homes Standard 

 In agreeing a local offer, ensure that it is set at a level not less than these 
standards and have regard for Section 6 of the Government’s Decent Homes 
Guidance e.g. the Lincoln Home Standard incorporates all aspects of the Decent 
Homes Standard.  

Repairs and maintenance 

Registered providers shall: 

 Provide a cost effective repairs and maintenance service to homes and 
communal areas that responds to the needs of, and offers choice to, tenants and 
has the objective of completing repairs and improvements ‘right first time’ 

 Meet all applicable statutory requirements that provide for the health and safety of 
the occupants in their homes 

The specific expectations relating to repair and maintenance is that:  

 Registered providers shall ensure a prudent, planned approach to repairs and 

maintenance of homes and communal areas. This should demonstrate an 

appropriate balance of planned and responsive repairs, and value for money.  

The approach should include responsive and cyclical repairs, planned and capital 

work; work on empty properties and adaptations 

60



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

5 
 

 Registered providers shall co-operate with relevant organisations to provide an 

adaptations service that meets tenants needs 

 

Involvement and empowerment 

 Registered providers shall ensure that tenants are given a wide range of 
opportunities to influence and be involved in the management of repair and 
maintenance services such as commissioning and undertaking a range of repair 
tasks as agreed with landlords, and the sharing of savings made. 

 
Scope of the policy 
 
Generally, CoLC is responsible for repairing and maintaining the structure of the 
property and any fixtures and fittings originally provided in the property.  
 
Tenants are informed of their repairing responsibilities when they sign their tenancy 
agreement, and the repairing responsibilities are further outlined in the Repair and 
Maintenance Policy.  
 

Section 4.2 right to repair 
 
You have the right to have repairs carried out to your homes under Section 96 of the 
Housing Act 1985 (as amended); and the regulations made under it apply to this 
agreement 
 
The tenancy agreement also identifies repairs for which the tenant is responsible, and if 
not completed, repairs that can be carried out by the CoLC with costs recharged to the 
tenant. 
 
Examples of work which CoLC may charge for include, but are not limited to the 
following:   

 Damaged sinks or toilets 

 Broken windows or doors 

 Lost keys 

 Lost access control fobs 

 Missing or damaged smoke alarms 
 
A list of common recharge items, including charges, are listed in Appendix 1. 
 
Where damage or neglect has occurred (for which the tenant is responsible) then the 
tenant can arrange for the damage to be repaired themselves, however, if this does not 
meet current health and safety, building regulation requirements or in the case of gas 
and electricity the current legislation, CoLC will carry out further works and charge the 
tenant the additional costs.  
 
In addition CoLC will not be liable if a tenant has installed a defective system, fixtures or 
fittings without permission. The CoLC may carry out and charge for repairs considered 
necessary for health and safety reasons or in situations of emergency, arising from the 
misuse of the property. This does not include repairs undertaken as a result of fair wear 
and tear. 
 

61



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

6 
 

 

 

How to report a repair 

A request for a repair can be taken: 

 Online at www.lincoln.gov.uk 

 By telephoning Customer Services on 01522 873333 during opening hours 

 In the event of an emergency outside of office hours telephone 01522 534747 

When a request is received the CoLC will: 

 If on the phone – arrange an appointment with the customer at the earliest 

possible date available, that is suitable for the customer.  

 If online – the customer can select a preferred appointment time and Customer 

Services will try to find a suitable appointment to match the customer’s 

preference. Customer Services will then confirm the appointment by a phone call 

or a text message. 

 Complete emergency repairs within 24hours.  

 Complete other repair requests within an average of 15 working days. 

If CoLC is called out to deal with a repair between the hours of 4pm and 8am any day of 
the week, including Bank Holidays, and the repair is not a genuine emergency the CoLC 
will charge the full costs of the call-out.   
 
At present most requests for repairs come through Customer Services by phone and are 
passed to a Resource Planner to contact the tenant and book an appointment. At that 
time the Resource Planner will determine:  
 

 Whether the nature of the repair is due to normal fair wear and tear at which point 
the repair will be dealt with in line with the Repair and Maintenance Policy 

 Whether the information provided by the tenant leads the Resource Planner to 
believe that the repair is damage caused by the tenant, a member of the tenant’s 
family or pet or a visitor to their home. In these instances the Resource Planner 
will advise the tenant that these repairs are rechargeable and give them the 
option to complete themselves or for the CoLC to complete and recharge the 
tenant 

 Any repair relating to gas and electricity will have to be completed by CoLC to 
satisfy health and safety requirements and current legislation 

 

Rechargeable repairs identified at repair appointment 
 
Following a request for a repair being received by CoLC a Resource Planner will contact 
the tenant to arrange an appointment to complete the repair.  At that appointment, if it is 
evident that the repair has been created because of neglect and not fair wear and tear, 
the operative will inform the tenant that the repair will be rechargeable. 
 
If in the operative’s opinion leaving the repair would pose a health and safety risk to the 
tenant and their family they will inform the tenant that the repair will be completed and at 
a later date they will receive an invoice for the works that have been carried out. This will 

62

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/


Implementation January 2017 
 
 

7 
 

always be the case for gas and electrical rechargeable repairs.  
 
If the repair does not pose a health and safety risk, the operative will ask the tenant if 
they would like to arrange for the repair to be completed at their own expense or for the 
CoLC to complete the repair and for the tenant to be recharged for the costs of carrying 
out the works. 
    
If the tenant requests the CoLC to carry out the works then the operative will complete 
the repair and then report back for an invoice to be raised for the works that have been 
completed.  
 
If the tenant decides to carry out the works themselves the operative will report this back 
to their Team Leader to advise the appropriate Housing Officer who will write to the 
tenant advising them they have 28 days to complete the required work.  

 
Rechargeable repairs identified by a visiting officer  
 
During a visit to a tenant’s home by any visiting officer if a repair is found not to be 
attributable by normal fair, wear and tear the tenant will be advised that the repair will be 
rechargeable. 
 
If leaving the rechargeable repair would pose a health and safety risk to the tenant and 
their family the tenant will be advised that the CoLC will complete the work and they will 
be recharged for the cost of the work and an invoice will be sent to them for payment.  
 
If the officer is of the opinion that leaving the repair would not pose a health and safety 
risk to the tenant and their family, they will be give two options, these are:  
 

1. To arrange for the repair to be completed at their own expense, if the tenant 
decides to do this the tenant will be given 28 days to complete the required work. 
A letter will be sent to the tenant detailing the required work and the timescales 
for completion 
 
The Housing Officer will visit the property after 28 days to ensure that the work 
has been completed to a satisfactory standard. If the work has been completed 
satisfactorily the communication will be closed and the tenant will be notified in 
writing.  
 
If some progress has been made the Housing Officer will continue to work with 
the tenant until the work has been completed satisfactorily. If the tenant does not 
continue to make progress or the work is not completed the Housing Officer will 
discuss the case with their line manager to determine an appropriate course of 
action. This may result in CoLC completing the work and recharging the tenant  
 

2. If the tenant does not want to complete the works themselves then the CoLC will 
carry out the work and recharge the costs to the tenant 

 
 
 
 
 
 

63



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

8 
 

 
 
 
 

Property improvement 
 
Secure tenants have a general right to improve their home provided the improvement is 
agreed by the CoLC, complies with all planning, building and environmental 
requirements, and does not adversely affect neighbours or their properties. 
 
In instances where an improvement has been made without permission, this can be 
granted retrospectively as long as the improvement has met all other provision required. 
 
Permission will not be refused unreasonably but may be granted with conditions such as 
returning the property to its original standard before the end of the tenancy.  
Where these conditions are not met, or in instances where a permitted improvement 
does adversely affect neighbours or require some rectification, the tenant will be 
required to carry out these works and if unable or refused, the CoLC may complete 
works and recharge the tenant using the same process described above.  
 

Mutual exchanges 
 
If rechargeable repairs are identified in either or both parties properties during the 
mutual exchange process conditional approval will be given. Final approval will not be 
given until the rechargeable items have been repaired or renewed. Prior to final approval 
the Housing Officer will visit the property/properties to inspect the work to ensure that it 
has been completed to a satisfactory standard. Checks should also be made of 
outstanding rechargeable debts when a request for a mutual exchange is received and 
conditional approval be given until the debts have been cleared in full.  
 

Rechargeable repairs identified as part of a void inspection 
 
When a tenant gives notice to end their tenancy, a Void Support Officer will complete a 
pre termination inspection. This inspection will identify any repairs that cannot be 
classified as fair wear and tear, and are therefore the responsibility of the tenant to 
rectify. This may also include work to return the garden to an acceptable standard, the 
decoration to an acceptable standard or the recharging of any clearance / storage and 
cleansing of the property where required. 
 
The tenant will be given the opportunity to arrange for these repairs to be completed 
prior to the termination of the tenancy. However, if these are not completed to the 
satisfaction of CoLC then a recharge will be raised for the cost of completing these 
repairs.  

 

Rechargeable repair identified because of action taken by 
Lincolnshire Police  
 
When Lincolnshire Police act with reasonable force in correctly executing a warrant at a 

property, there is no liability on their part to make good the damage caused regardless if 

an arrest was, or wasn’t made. In all cases the damage will be recharged to the tenant. If 

64



Implementation January 2017 
 
 

9 
 

the tenant objects then they must take this matter up with the Police and the recharge 

will stand. 

Where the Police act incorrectly (such as force entry at the wrong address) and CoLC 
are responsible for maintaining the fabric of the building then the Police will be 
approached for compensation.  

 

Vulnerable tenants 

When making a decision whether or not to recharge a tenant for repairs that can’t be 

attributable to fair wear and tear account must be taken of any vulnerability factors. 

The Repair and Maintenance Policy states that a vulnerable tenant is someone who is or 
may be in need of community care services by reason of mental health or other 
disability, age or illness, who is or may be unable to take care of him or herself, or 
unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or exploitation. This includes 
individuals who might be in receipt of social care or health services. 
  
Each person should be considered individually. Where there are concerns that someone 
is potentially vulnerable the final decision to recharge or waive the charge will rest with 
the Tenancy Services Manager. 
 

Payments for rechargeable repairs 
 
Whenever practical, tenants will be required to complete a rechargeable repair form prior 
to completion of any works. However in instances where this is not possible, i.e. 
emergency repairs, the work will be carried out and the tenant will be invoiced after the 
work has been completed. 
 
Payment for repairs would normally be expected to be paid in full. However if this is not 
possible arrangements can be made for a lump sum to be paid and / or smaller weekly 
instalments to be made until the debt has been repaid in full.  

 
Complaints 
 
When a current or former tenant wishes to dispute the bill for rechargeable repairs they 
have received this will in the first instance be to the employee who has issued the 
rechargeable repair letter advising that the charges are correct and due for payment.  
 
If this disagreement is not resolved, the current or former tenant can make a formal 
complaint using the following methods: 

 Online at www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints  

 By email to complaints@lincoln.gov.uk 

 By telephone on 01522 881188 

 By letter to: 
Directorate of Housing and Regeneration  
City of Lincoln Council,  
City Hall,  
Beaumont Fee,  
Lincoln,  
LN1 1DD 

65

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints


Implementation January 2017 
 
 

10 
 

 
Complaints will be acknowledged and responded to within 10 working days. 
 
Further information is available at www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints 

66

http://www.lincoln.gov.uk/complaints


  

 
HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

16 JANUARY 2017 

 
SUBJECT: 
 

 
WORK PROGRAMME 2016/17 
 

DIRECTORATE: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE & TOWN CLERK  
 

LEAD OFFICER: WENDY GREENWELL, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER 
 

 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 To present Members with the work programme for 2016/17 (Appendix A). 

 
2. Background 

 
2.1 
 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 

The work programme for 2016/17 is provided for information to ensure members 
are aware of the forthcoming business at future meetings of the Housing Scrutiny 
Sub Committee. The work programme is regularly updated in consultation with the 
chair of the committee and chair of Lincoln Tenants Panel. 
 
The work programme includes those areas for scrutiny linked to the strategic 
priorities of the Council and housing matters, this was to ensure that the work of this 
committee is relevant and proportionate.  

 
3. Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 

That Members agree the work programme and recommend any necessary 
amendments. 

Access to Information: 
Does the report contain exempt 
information, which would prejudice the 
public interest requirement if it was 
publicised? 
 

 
No 

Key Decision No 
 

Do the Exempt Information Categories 
Apply 
 

No 

Call In and Urgency: Is the decision one 
to which Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply? 
 

 
No 

Does the report contain Appendices? 
 

Yes 

If Yes, how many Appendices? 
 

1 
 

Lead Officer:  Wendy Greenwell, Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone 873619 

 

67

Item No. 5



This page is intentionally blank.



 

Amended  06/01/17WG 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A 
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee Work Programme – Timetable for 2016/17Item Person(/ 

3 27 June 20160 Comments 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

Quarter 4 2015/16 – Performance Summary  
 

Karen Talbot This will be a summary report.  

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment 2014-17 Strategy Update Chris Morton  

LTP Annual Report Eric Jenkinson/ Chris Morton  

 
    

Democratic Services Regular Report 
 

8 August 2016 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

Quarter 1 (2016/17) – Performance Report Karen Talbot  

Annual Report to Tenants'  Chris Morton  

New Build Modernisation Programme  Clive Pridgeon/ Kev Bowring Requested at Jan meeting and 
carried forward from June’s meeting 

ASB Service Development  Karen Talbot Requested at June’s meeting 

 
3 October 2016 - Annual Performance 

 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

   

Annual Performance reports on the following areas: 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Bob Ledger/Frances Jelly Annual report 
Housing Investment Programme (HIP)  Kev Bowring Annual report 

69



 

Amended  06/01/17WG 
 

 
 

14 November 2016 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

Quarter 2 (2016/17) – Performance and Finance Report  Karen Talbot Quarterly report 

LTP Annual Report – Half Yearly Report  Eric Jenkinson Annual report 

Tenant Involvement and Empowerment 2014-17 Strategy Update Chris Morton  

‘Home! magazine editions 2017-article planning Chris Morton Requested at June meeting 

16 January 2017 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

 
Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy and Rechargeable Repairs Policy 

 
Karen Talbot 

 

13 March 2017 

Item(s) 
 

Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments 

Quarter 3 (2016/17) – Performance Report Karen Talbot Quarterly report 

Housing Portfolio Holder   Annual report 
Post Implementation Review on the Modernisation of St Botolphs Court Bob Ledger Requested at Novembers meeting 

Post Implementation Review of Servitor Matt Hillman Requested at Jan 2016 meeting 

 
Items to be scheduled on the work programme 
 

 Secure Tenancies – Verbal update required on what the Government is intending to do with Secure Tenancies 

 Tenant Review Report 

 New Building Company 
 

70


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes -14 November 2016
	4 Housing Repairs and Maintenance Policy and Rechargeable Repairs Policy
	Appendix 1 Housing Sub Repairs and Rechargeables
	Appendix 2 Housing Sub Repairs and Rechargeables
	Appendix 3 Housing Sub Repairs and Rechargeables

	5 Work Programme 2016-2017
	Appendix A Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee - Work Programme 2016 - 17


